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All locations (lot numbers) and building numbers are taken from "Harpers Ferry,
Histotical Base Map, 1859, Part of the Master Plan for Harpers Ferry National Monu-
ment," prepared by the Eastern Office of Design & Construction, National Park Ser-
vice, Drawing No. NM-HF 3021, 3 sheets, dated Oct. 6, 1959, for the Lower Town and
Camp Hill areas of Harpers Ferry. This map is supported by Charles W. Snell, "The
Town of Harpers Ferry in 1859, A Physical History" (NPS typescript, Harpers Ferry
National Monument Research Project No. HF-32, May 13, 1959).

Upper Hall Island

In 1859 Upper Hall Island was part of the U.S. Armory at Harpers Ferry and was the
site of the Armory lumber yard and three Armory employee dwellings. The lumber
yard and shed were constructed in 1855 on the upper or western end of the island.
The upper locks and toll house of the Shenandoah Canal Company were also located at
the west end of the island and the tracks of the Winchester and Potomac Railroad

Company crossed the island on the south side. A description of the island's struc-
tures in 1859 follows:

Armory Dwelling No. 6, erected between 1807 and 1834, was a two-story brick build-
ing with approximate dimensions of 22' by 16'. It was probably rented by Francis
Knapp, an Armory machinist, in 1859. Armory Dwelling No. 7, erected between 1807
and 1834, was a two-story stone building with approximate dimensions of 28' by 28'.
It was probably rented by John Mason, an Armory machine oiler, in 1859. Armory
Dwelling No. 8, erected between 1807 and 1834, was a two-story brick building
measuring approximately 36' by 18'. It was probably occupied by John P. Fouke,

an Armory employee, in 1859. These houses were demolished by Union soldiers in
November 1864 to make way for the construction of the U.S. Military Railroad that
was to run from Harpers Ferry to Stephenson's Depot near Winchester, Va., to help
supply Sheridan's army. At that time the U.S. Military Railroad Corps erected a
frame tool house (37' by 22') and an agent's office (21' by 13') on Upper Hall
Island, There are no visible surface remains of any of these structures.

The Shenandoah Canal along the northern sides of the Upper and Lower Hall Islands,
with the upper and lower locks, was completed by the Potomac Company in 1807. In
1824 the Shenandoah Canal Company entered into an agreement with the owners of the
Island of Virginius which provided for the construction of a dam between the upper
or western end of that island and the eastern end of Lower Hall Island. This dam
furnished water for the canal as it passed along the northern side of the Island
of Virginius and also created a turning basin for the boats at that point.u The
toll house of the canal company, a one-story frame building, was located on the up-
per or western end of Upper Hall Island adjacent to the upper locks. The toll
house is missing, but traces of the canal are present here and further west along
the river within the park.

(continued)
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.Wlncf>ster and ooomac Rallroad_.

. The" Winehestervand Potomac Railroad received a: rlght—aﬁ—way along the- ‘Shenandoah _
Rlvey'“hreugh Armery Land from the United State' n. 18-55and was complete& from

d locks F, E, D, and C_, Shenandoah
east of M‘arket St‘reet, J.n Bleck B

‘this point; - in the Whger Ferry Lot Reservation, to t]
Bridge, the rlghtaof-way narrowed to 30% again.«

iocombt 'es and cars of the rallroad were 1oeated on th
.,wooden>tr§§t1e, 14' above ground and about 25t wide, ex

,The.depot:end:turn—amannds are not extant.f

'l‘urrigikeé .

Three . turnpikes led from Harpers Ferry to surround1ng towns prior to. the Civil’ _'
: War. E : .

, ; follows the ‘tumpike lign-
ment.. West'of Reute,r,. ‘ v further perpetsated by the
existing road running some?4a yar&s Weia,of'the~medern sewage treatment plant, -

(continued)
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thence branching northward up a rise to:the town of Bolivar. .The left branch of
this road, alsa on a historic aligmment, continues .along the river:past.the ruins
of Strider s Gulf Mill, which dates to the 1790s.* The Harpers Ferry. toll house
of the turnpike, a one-story frame building, Wasrlocated on.the mainland just east
of the bridge that led to- the Island of Virginius. -

The Frederlck and Harpers Ferry Turnpike, organized in 1830, was comgleted from
Frederick, Maryland, to the Maryland abutment of the Wager Potomac:bridge by 1832.
The existing road along the base of Maryland Heights west of Sandy Hook, outside
but adjacent to the Maryland Heights park. boundary, presumably fo¥lows " the align-
ment of the western end of this turnpike.; ,

The Hillsborough and Harpers Ferry Turnpike, organlzed in 1851, was eompleted the
following year from the southern end of the Shenandoah Tod#. Bridge east along the
base of Loudoun Heights (where U.S. Route 340 now runs), thence south ever the
mountains to Hillsborough, Va. The turnpike todl house was in Armory Dwelling
No. 9; a stone building adjacent to the south end of the bridge (not extant).

Lower»Hallrlsland

Lower Hall Island, comprising approximately five acres. and. nine structures prlor

to the Civil War, was owned by the United States during the Armary'perlod and was -

one of the three major water-powered 1ndustr1a1 sites in Harpers Ferry.: ~ The is~

land was approximately 760 feet long from east to west along the north side. The

maximum breadth south to the Winchester and Potomac railroad track was abeut 260
feet. The island originally extended some distance into the river beyond the
railroad, but most of this land has been washed away in the 20th century.  Some

of John Brown's raiders held the island's buildings ‘briefly in 1859. The. buildings

of this period,: which served the Eall Rifle Eactory,.WEIe5as folldws:,v

 Building.No. 3, the Finishing and Machine Shﬁp, had two brick storles atop stone
foundations: and measured 35-1/2" by 128'. Qn each end at the rear of this main.
structure - was a one-story wing measuring 24'.by 24!. The door and window frames
were cast iron; the‘water table, cornice, and sills were of cut stone. The gutters
and spouting were copper and the roof was sheet iron. Designed by Major Jghn Sy--
mington, the buildlng was. erected 1n,1847—48 for about" $29 748;. ‘

Building No. 1, the Filing Sh0p, had ~two. brick stories on a stone foundation measur-
ing 74" by 25—1/2' * The roof covering was. slate. The shop was. designed by Maj. -
Symington and erected in 1844~45-at a cost of some $5,000.

*See page 42.. : ' - (continued)
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Building No. 6, the Machine Shop, had a stone basement and . first story, a . brick.
second story, and a sheet iron raof:  On the' center.reax of the 87-3/4' by 35'
shop was a 14" by 36" pro;ection designed for use as an office. Designed by Maj.
fSymlngton, the building was erected in 1852-53 at a- cost of $19, 030. -

Buildlng No. 9, 'the Barrel Drilling and Finishing Shop, had a stonme foundatlon and
first- story and two brick stories with a sheet iron roof topped .by a 70" ‘high bell
- tower. Measuring 57-1/2' by 49~1/2', this:shop ‘connected: ‘Buildings No. 6 and 4. -

De51gned by Superintendent Alfred M. Barbour, it was erected im 1859-60 at a cost

.Bulldlng No. 4, the Tilt Hammer -and Forging Shop, ‘had ‘a stone basement and figst
story, a brick second story, cut stone water: table, steps,. sills, ‘and coping,v
cast iron door and window frames, and a slate roof. . On the center rear of the

- 110" by 25-1/2' shop was a 14-1/2' by 35' projection serving as an office. De-
signed by. Msj Symington, the shop was builé: in 1849-50 for $22,130.

,Bullding No. 5, the Annealing Furnace and Proof House, was a one-story. brick

~ building over a one-story stone foundation measuring 60' by 36'. Two brick. par-
tition walls divided it into.three separate compartments. It was designed by '
MaJ. ‘Symington and erected in 1851—52 at a cost of $5 000. :

. Building No. 7, the Coal House, was a one-story building.oflbrick; 25' by 21°
and 15' high, with a sheet iron roof, used for the storage of coal and charcoal.
Designed by Colomel Benjamin-Huger, it was erected in 1853—54 for $650. -

Building No. 8, the Stock House, probably had two stories with:a slate roof
“Exact . dimensions are unknown. Erected prior to 1835, it was converted in 1853 54 .-
for the sterage of rifle stocks ‘at a cost of $450.

Bullding No. 2, the Proof House, was a one-story frame bulldlng, 19-1/2' by 15°',
with a back Wall of stone masonry 2-1/2' thick, used for the proving of rifle
barrels. It was erected by Maj Symlngton in 1844—45.,_'

From 1846. to 1860 $31 107 was- spent for .certain 1mpr0vements -an -the Rifle Eactory
- grounds. A single-arch stone’ bridge approximately 50" long and 15" to 17" wide
was built 530' west of the eastern tip of the island to provide access from the
mainland.. Tn 1855~57 the entire island:was enclased by a wall totaling .about
2,665"' in length. Tts stone foundation was three feet thick and three feet high,
supporting a brick wall 28" thick and eight feet high Wlth a rough stone coping.
Above all was a wrought iron paling fence.
: (continued)
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The north bank of the Shanandoah Canal as it passed the Rifle Factory on Lower Hall
Island was bounded by a dry-lald stone wall three feet thick and six feet high
erected by the Armory. -

Lower Hall Island was leveled and graded between 1844 and 1860 and the sluiceways
were arched over and run underground. The grounds were planted in grass and numer-
ous trees covered the island. A road crossed the island from the brldge to the
Shenandoah River, sinking beneath the Winchester and Potomac Railroad tracks. A
dry-laid stonme wall with rough coping, 80' long and 28" thick, extended along each
side of the sunken portion of the road. A flagstone walk about 550' long ran along
the front or northern side of the Rifle Factory shops. In 1852 two cast iron street
lamps were installed at the Rifle Factory. o :

Between April 18 and June 15, 1861,‘Confederate,soldiers,removed-most of the arms-
producing machinery and tools from the Rifle Factory buildings and subsequently
burned these structures. In November 1864 the U.S. Military Railroad, then in the
process of rebuilding the destroyed Winchester and Potomac line to Stephenson's '
Depot, Va.; constructed a locomotive :engine house, a machine and blacksmith shop, -
and four railroad loading platforms on Lower Hall Island.v None of these fzame

structures survive. : ‘ ‘

In 1887—88 Savery & Company tore down the still-standing masonry walls of the
burned Rifle Factory buildings and reused the material to construct the wood pulp
mill at the lower (east) end of Lower Hall Island. The pulp mill was demolished
in 1937, but the stone flumes and retaining wall of the mill are still visible.
The original foundations of the Rifle Factory buildings. and the earlier John H. -

Hall shops lie to the west of the flume and south of the retaining wall; they have
not been excavated.

U.S.»Lot 2'~Shehandoah:Street

Axmory Dwelling ‘House No. 5 (Park Bldg. No. 48), a 2-1/2-story stone house 18' by
32-1/2' in plan, was erected on this lot north of Sbenandoah Street between 1821
and 1834..- Lt was rented by the family of an armorer prior to the Civil War, at
the close of vhich it was vacant and in fair condltlon. ‘The exterior was restored
to its 1859 appearance in 1968 and the original 1nterlor stairway has been recon-
structed. It is presently used 'as a regidence. ‘

The Armory'Stable, designed by Maj John' Symlngton, was erected on Block F of ‘this
lot south of Shenandoah Street in 1847~48. ‘It was a one-story brick building with
cut stone water table and coping and a slate roof. The structure was similar in .

(continued)
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design to Bulldlng No. 1 ‘the Engine and Guard HOuse, in the Musket Factory yard.
It contained stalls for at least six horses. In 1856 stone walls were erected on
two dides of the stable to enlarge the grounds. TIn July 1865 the stable was in
good condition and being used by. the Union Army..‘Thére aee no visible remains.

U.S. Lot i, Block F Shenandoah Street

Armory’Dwelling No. 4 on this lot, a two-story brick building with wood shingle
roof approximately 38' by 21', was erected between 1811l and 1834. TIn 1859 it was
probably rented by two families of Armory workmen. In July 1865 it was in bad
condition and vacant. There are no visible remains. '

" Block E,-Shénandoah Street

This block encompassed four residential lots and a school, as follows:

Lot No. 'l was tka. s1te of House No. 19, erected by the United States between 1811

" and 1834. The house was a two—story brick dwelling with a wood shingle roof and
measured approximately 30' by 19'. William H. Martin, am Armory inspector, was-
its tenant in 1859, : i

Lot No. 2, leased by the Govermment to the County School Board prdéor to the Civil
War, was the site of a one-story brick school building of unknown dimensions-=-the
Free School for School District No. 24.  Erected in 1855, the school was demolished
by Union soldiers during the war.

Lot No. 3 was owned by Michael Doran, a merchant, prior to the Civil War. He myy
have constructed a new house on the lot between 1852 and 1861, but no definite
evidence. of it has been found.

Lot No. 4 was the site of House No. 22 erected’ by the United States between 1811
and 1834. ' The stone dwelling had" 2—1/2 stories and a ‘wood shingle roof.. It‘front—
ed approximately 18' on Shenandoah Street and was about 22' deep.. Im 1859 it
housed the Nunnamaker family, Who ‘were employed at the Armory. A town pump was
then located on the lot.

Lot No. 5 was the site of Houses No. 23 and 24;-erected»by the United States be-
tween 1811 and 1834, Each of these 2-1/2-story brick and frame dwellings with

(continued)
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- wood shingle roafs fronted on Shenandoah Street aheut 21' ‘and was - 22' deep.r Tn 1859
House No. 23 was rented’ to.John Koonce, a polisher'of gun barrels, and House No. 24
was the res1dence of William Snook; an inspector of gun barrels. *

‘ Thh historic residences in thlS area were destroyed by floods, particularly that of :
1936. Thelr foundations are in ‘place.

vBlock ;L_Shenandoah Street,

This block encompassed seven 1ots,‘as follows.ck ;
Lot No. 1 was the site of House No. ll erectéd by the United: States between 1811

- and 1834, © The brick dwelllng had 1- 1/2 stories ‘and a wood  shingle:roof and
measured 22' by 18'. A second house was erected on the lot between 1852 and 1857
by Master Armorer Armlstead M. Ball, -who ‘was re51d1ng in ‘one of the houses in 1359‘,»

Lot- No. 2 was - leased by the Cathollc Church from: the Government prior to the Civil
War as the site for a parsonage. - The -lot was vacant in 1859. - (Michael A. Costello,
the priest, was then residing at the house of William J. Stephens on Wager Lot No.b5. )

Lot No. 3 was leased by the Presbyterian Church from the Government prior to the
Civil War as the site for a parsonage. The’ church -then had a visiting pastor from
Berryv111e, and no parsonage was erected. The lot was instead occupied by a frame
carriage house with shake roof serving the. church, which was" directly across the
street. v : v

- Lot No. 4 was the site of House No. 16 erected by the United States between 1811
and 1834. The brick dwelling had 2—1/2 stories and a slate roof and measured about-
39' by 19'. Between 1853 and 1859 Philip Hoffman, the resident, built a 2-1/2-
story brick addiftion measuring approximately 29' by 17'." Two small frame barns
or sheds fronted on Hamilton Street at the rear of: the 1ot. o

Lot No. 5 was the site of House No. 17, erected by the United States between 1811 :
and 1834. The brick. dvelling had 1—1/2 or two stories and a. slate roof and fronted
about 21' on Shenandoah Street. It'was approximately 42" deep, including a 15' by
15" addition at the rear. In 1859 the house was awned by Joseph Mathews, an ar- .
morer, wad was probably rented by Thomas B. Moore, a merchant.c

(continued)
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Lot No. 6, owned in- 1859 by the heirs of - Edward Lucas, Jr., former " Paymaster of the -
Armory, was- then vacant. ' .

Lot No. 7 was the site of House Mo. 52 erected by Phillp Coons in 1825-26. The two-~

" story stone dwelling measured 39' by 28!, To the southwest was a small one-story
barn or shed. In 1859 the house was the residence ‘of Samuel L. Willlams, an Armory
Watchman, and a portion was: rented to James: Pagate, a mill agent.

Foundatlon remains of these structures on Block D are present beneath a parking 1ot
installed by the National Park Service in 1957-58. :

Block G, Shenandoah Street

The block was the site of the Armory Lumber Yard untll 1852 when a flood destroyed
the yard. Thereafter ‘the block was vacant. :

U.S. Ferry,Lot, Shenandoah Street

The Shenandoah Toll Bridge crossed from the southern extremlty of" Brldge Street ad-
jacent to the U.S. Ferry Lot. The United States owned the ferry rights across the
Shenandoah from 1818 until after the Civil War. A rope ferry-crossed the river from-
1810 until 1844. In 1843-44 the Shenandoah Bridge Company constructed its toll -~ =~
bridge. In return for not exercising its ferry rlghts, ‘the United States received -
free passage of all Armory personnel and property across the bridge. = The bridge was "
_-composed of two stone abutments, two stone piers,. and a wooden superstructure 375"
long. The piers were 28' high, 30' long, 10' thick at the base and 6' thick at the
- top. The arched superstructure had a double wagon . track, each being 10' wide and
12! high,ln the clear. It was Weatherboarded and covered with cypress shlngles.
The original superstructure was destroyed by a hurricane in June 1859 and rebuilt
by September,lbut was not covered at the time of John Brown's raid. - Confederate
troops burned the bridge on June 28 1861.‘ There are no evident remains.

The Shenandoah Bridge Toll House, ‘a small l—l/2-story frame building erected by
the Shenandoah Bridge Company in- 1844, stoad ‘at the northern end of the bridge on
the U.S. Ferry Lot. The lot, owned by the Unlted States and 1eased to -the company,
was otherwise vacant. -

The 19th eentury buildings on Blocks D and G and the u. S Ferry Lot,were demollshed
by floods. The flood of 1936 removed what . remalned at that t1me.

(continued)
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"This lot was owned by the United’ States prior ‘to  the Civil War and ‘leased to the
Presbyterian Church. The church. bullding, with a one-story stone basement and .one
brick story above, was erected in 1843. Tt measured 36" by 49' and had a wooden
cupola mounted on the roof. ‘During the war the upper floor was used as a guard
house .and' the basement as a stable by the Union Army.  The badly damaged structure

was repalxed after the war, but today only the ruined first story remains.
i : 3 y

Block C, Shenandoah Street

This largely residential block included the following lots and structurés:i

Lot 1, on the corner of Shenandoah and Market streets, contained Houses No. 3 and 4,
constructed by William Graham about 1818-20.  House No. ‘4 was a.2-1/2-story stone
building with a slate roof designed for use as a store and dwelling. It fronted
approximately 43' on Shenandoah Street and went back about 33' along Market Street.
The white-painted building contained a dry goods and grocery store in 1850.

House No. 3, once known as the Globe Inn, was=a 2-1/2-story brick structure with.
slate roof located to the rear of House No. 4. A two-story covered frame porch
extended the length of the 50" Market Street facade. ' The building was about -20'
deep, not including the 9'-wide porch. In 1859 the lot and-both houses were owned
by the heirs of Edward Lucas, Jr., the late Paymaster of the Armory.

Lot No. 2 was the site of House No. 5, erected by the United~StateS'between“1818
and 1834. The two-story brick structure with wood shingle roof fronted approxi-
-mately 25' on Shenandoah Street and was about 28' deep. It was owned and occupied

by Ralph Cleveland, an armorer, in 1859. A C

Lot No. 3 was the site of House No. 6, erected by the United States between 1811
and 1834. The two-story brick structure with wood shingle roof fronted approxi-
mately 24' on Shenandoah Street and was about 17' deep. The house was occupiéd
by the Henry Stripes family, armorers, in 1859. : ' '

Lot No. 4 was the site of House No.,8 erected’ hy the United. States ‘between 1811

and 1834.: The-1-1/2=story brick building with wood shingle roof fronted approx-—
imately 24' on Shenandoah Street and ‘was about 32' in depth. Tn 1859.it was »
owned by John B. Johnson; an armorer, and was: apparently rented as a dwelling by

Francis M. Pine, a clerk: :

i (continued)
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Lot No. Srwas the site of House No, 9, erected by the United States between 1811 and
1834, The 1-1/2-story brick dwelling with weod. shingle roof fronted -approximately
20" on Shenandoah Street and was about 32" deep., It was owned and occupied by the
Geofge P.IMarquett - family in 1859. v R C ’

" Lot No. 6A was the site of :House No. 10, erected by the United States between 1811 -
and 1834.;  The; thPstory EEéE? dwelllng with wood shingle roof fronted approz-
imately 30" on Shenandoah Street and was about 32' in depth. In 1859 it was owned
by Andrew| J. Wright, an armorer, and was probably rented by Benjamin Hobbs, an
armorer;, ' T :

Lot No. 6B was the site of a two-story brick house bullt and occupied by Jesse
Grimes (or Graham), an -armorer, between 1857 and 1859. The hosse measured approx-
imately 17' b by 24°'.

' Lot No. 7 was the site of House No. 49,_erected by the United States between 1811
and 1834. The one-story brick dwelling adjeined - the house on Lot No. 8; the two
houses together measured approximately 54' by 18'. . In 1859 House No. 49 was the
residence of Joseph Manuel, blacksmith, and Joseph Davis, blacksmith's apprentlce.

Lot No. 8 was the site of House No.. 48, erected by the United States between 1811
and 1834. The two-story brick dwelling was owned "and occupied by Bernard ‘McCabe,
a coal breaker, in 1859. » '

Lot No. 9 was the site of House No. 47, -erected by the United States between 1811
and 1834. The two-story stone dwelling measured approximately 28' by 18'. 1In 1859

it was owned by the heirs of Francis McCabe and was apparently rented by Daniel
Potterfield, a butcher, and- Thomas Gallaher, a liquor dealer.

Lot No. 10 was the site of House No. 46, erected by the United States between 1811
and 1834. The two-stofy stone dwelling measuring 40' by 22' was owned -and occupied
hy Samuel Trall, a carpenter, in 1859. ,

Lot No. 11, -owned by;the,United~States,»was under contract of sale to the late
‘Edward Lucas, Jr., in 1859 but'not*paid for. It was then vacant.

The buildings on Block C were destroyed by flood action. “Structural remains are
present beneath the parking lot installed by the Natlonal Park Serv1ce 1n 1957-58.

(continned)
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Block B, Shenandoah Street

This block included the following lots and'sttucturee.'

The Market House, designed by Maj. John Symlngton and erected in 1846—47 by the’
Armory, was located south of the Winchester and Potomac Railroad tracks in the
southwestern sector of the block. The two-story brick building with slate roof and
no cellar measured approximately 66' by 40'. On the south side. facing the Shenan-
doah River were six arched windows over six- arched éoorways. By 1859 a one-story
covered frame porch had probably been added to the west (Market Street) end and -
across the Shenandoah River front to afford more space and protection for goods. "
The first floor then served as the public town market where vegetables, meat, .
poultry, cheese, tallow, eggs, and fish were sold. The second floor was used as-
the lodge room of the Sons of Temperance, which funded its cOnstructlon. The prop-
erty was owned by the United States and leased to the Town of Harpers Ferry.

The brick walls of the abandoned structure were felled by the 1936 flood. Founda—
tion remnants are present under ‘the existing parklng lot.

Lot No. 2 is the site of Armory Dwelling No. 1 (Park Bldg. ‘No. 36), designed by

- Superintendent Henry W. Clowe and erected in 1858-59 as quarters for the Master
Armorer. The two-story brick house has a slate roof and measures 42'8" by 38'6".
A two-story brick wing with slate roof at the rear measures 28'6" by 25'7¥. A two-
story wooden porch runs along the east side of the wing and the exposed rear of the
main block. The building, which cost $7,000 to comstruct, contains 14 rooms.
During the periods of Union occupatdéon of Harpers Ferry during the Civil War, Union
commanders probably used the house as a headquarters. The bu11d1ng has  been re-
stored to its 1859-65 appearance. A wood picket fence enclosed Lot No. 2 and the
adjoining Lot No. 1. Park Bldg. No. 36A, located at the southwest corner of Lot
No. 2, was a one-story brick privy, 9' by 6' with slate roof, erected preV1ously
in connection with Armory Dwelling No. 2. Ie isf notgextant.

Lot No. 3 is the site of the two—part Armory Dwelling No. 2 (Park Bldgs. No. 34—

- 35). The earliest part (No. 35),‘erected in 1812 by Joseph S. Annin, was.a 2-1/2-
story brick house with cellar and slate roof: measurlng 33' by 23'. It was the res-
idence of the Master Armorer from 1818 to 1838. The second part (Bldg. 34) was a -
one-story 22'-by-20' brick kitchen with slate roof erected in 1827 on the southwest
corner of the original structure.. Armory Dwelling No. 2 was vacant at the time of -
the John Brown raid and was used soon afterward as a recruiting office by the de-
tachment of regulars sent to guard the Armory. It apparently served as quarters
for Union officers during the Civil War. A third story was added to the building

(cont1nued)
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after 1878, and the structure has been stabilized in this form.

To the rear of this bu11d1ng was -a one-story brick smokehouse with slate roof measur-
. ing about 16' by 14'. This structure (Park Bldg. 34A) was raléed toitwo { stories
N after 1878 and remains in that- form. o S SE o -

On the northwest corner of Lot No. 3 at Shenandoah and Market streets is the former
Doran Store (Park Bldg. No. 33). This three-story stone structure built c. 1883 as:
a store and residence has survived the widespread demolition of post-Civil War
buildings in the town because of its function as a flood buffer for the older build-
ings on Block B. The National Park Service has str ngthened -it: by adding concrete
~block interior walls. The upper floors have been adapted as quarters for park
employees, Park Bldg. No. 32, also dating from the 1880s, attaches to Bldg. 33 at
‘the rear on Market Street and incorporates a. stone icehouse connected to the main
portion by an archway. The -icehouse is on the’ approximate site of an antebellum
frame stable measuring about 20' by 16' which, together with the smokehouse, was
. used by the occupants of Armory Dwelllng No. 1 before the Civil War.

Lot No. 5 was the site of House No. 43, erected about 1800., This flrst quarters of
the early paymasters was a two-—story brick building measuring approximately 28" by
30" with a two-story frame porch across the north front, a cellar, and a slate roof.
A two-story brick wing about 15' by 15' was located in the rear.: The house was
owned and occupied by George W. Gompf, an armorer, in 1859 It was destroyed by
the 1936 flood, and only foundatlon ruins remain. '

U.S. Lot No. 1, Shenandoah Street

This lot on the north side of Shenandoah Street across from Block C is the site of
Armory Dwelling No. 3 (Park Bldg, No. 45). It was built by John G. Wilson in 1825-
26 as a store and enlarged by Mrs. Ann C. Stephenson as an imm or hotel in 1833-34.
The 2-1/2-story stone gable-roofed structure measures 66'3" by 35'9". A two-story
frame porch runs the length of the front elevation. During the 1840s and 50s two
small shops were located on the first floor and the upper floors were also divided
to housé two families. In 1859 saddlemaker, tailor, or grocery shops - probably oc-
cupied the ground floor. During the Civil War the building was a Union Army ware-
house, being listed as Ordnance Department Warehouse No. 3 in July 1865 and then -
needing repair.,- The U.S. Government sold the property in 1869. Again in Govern-.
‘ment ownership, the building has been restored to its 1859 appearance and is now
used as a National Park Service v1s1tor center.

(continued)
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St., John s Protestant Eplscopal _Church: (P ,

The 31te of this church _at the east end of Camp
was the site of the earlier Harpers Ferty Fr

Q&igg*ShenaﬁdOah Street,
. tion by fire in 1845. The U.S. leernment,'j f(;,c

til its destruc-
next leased the
.En51851-52 ’

this congregatlon constructed a one—story stene
an elevated basement. The Walle of the 37-1/2"
concrete faeing. A small annex at the rear prol
gable roof was covered with wood shingles.  There s
used the church as ‘a barracks and hospital during i
which only theistene'walls,and roof remained. Th ‘txan>spent $1, 200 to
rebuild the church in 1882, then #b6ld it and move w location in 1895.

(The Government paid the congregation $1,700 for: me damage in 1915, )

The church building began to deteriorate to ruins at er 1907. - I SRR
1961 the National Park Service stabilized the open ‘rui fating the bearéﬁ'?f‘r
ing under the walls, reducing them to a safe level, an : '

;were covered witira
the altar. The :

The Island of Virginiug

Harpers Ferry's sec@mé major 1ndustr1al center was the Islané cg Vlrginius, locat-
ed against the north bank of the Shenandoah River between Lo‘ , ard

the lower town. The i&land of approximately'
" War by A.H. Herr, a miller born in Pennsyly
foundry, machine shop, cotton mlll, flou
~#tablishment. The island's water power
‘Approximately 217 persons resided on

Bullding No.. l, the Iron Feundry, was a_ one—story sto, é%é@tééﬁeﬁe: a
power canal in 1824 by Townsend Beckham as'aa oil mi. mverted to an
iron foundry by Hugh Gilleece in 1835.

Building No. 2, the "Island" Flaur Mill, was?a§3~1/2-stery stone structure measur—
ing approx1mately 96' by 48' erected over amether power canal- by -Luther 1. Cox in
1840. It replaced an earlier flour mill ced by Fontaine Beckham in: 1824 and
destroyed by fire in 1839, James S. Wel dA.H. Herr operated the mill in -
partnership in 1859, Confederate troops bt ,'&,1t ia- 1861.,

(continued)
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Building No. 3, the Saw Mill, was a 1—1/2—story frame structure measuring 100' by 36',¢"
with an iron water wheel. The mill and the canal or race over which it was erected
were: constructed by Lewis Wernwag in 1824, :

Building No. 4, the Machine Shop, was a . three-story stone bullding measuring,SO' by

30' constructed by Lewis Wernwag before 1834. It was. operated in 1859 by John
Wernwag. : :

A

- Building No, 5, the Cotton. Factory, was a four—story brlck buildlng, ‘68" by 49', ‘with

tin roof, Built in 1849, it was ‘apparently destroyed in- the 1852 floed 1eaving only
the foundations.

Building No. 6, the Cotton Mill, was a four-story brick bullding on stone foundations,
104' by 48", with tin roof. It was steam heated and gas lighted. . It was erected by
_the Harpers Ferry & Shenandeah Manufacturing Company in- 1847 and was being operated
vby AH. Herr in 1859., ' v

- Building No. 7 the Blacksmlth Shop, was a l—l/2—story frame building probably dat—h
- ing from 1834. , .

A Building No. 8, a Dwelling House, was a one-story buildlng, probably frame and dat-
ing from 1834.

‘Building No. 9, an Office, was probably a one—story frame off1ce for ‘the sawmill.
-It wis known to have been standing in- 1844.- ' :

Building No.rlo, a Dwelling House,vwas probably a<frame*structure of‘1—1/2tstories;‘

Building No. 11, a Carriage House, was a one—story frame structure knownkto have
been standing in 1844. :

_ Bulldlng No. 12, a DWelling House, was a 3—1/2-story frame structure, brick filled
enlarged from a two-story house between 1844 and 1857.,~ o

Building No.. 13 a Dwelllng Hosse, was a 2-1/2-story frame structure, brick filled
and rough cast, enlarged from a one—story house between 1844 and 1857. :

-Building No.vl4, a Dwelling House, was a one—story frame structure, brick filled
and rough cast, probably standing in- 1834

(Continued)



Form No. 10-300a
(Rev. 10-74) .

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTE RlOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES’ iR
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

communuou SHEET \ ‘ ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 15

Building No. 15, a Dwelling House, was a 2-1/2—story stuccoed stone: two-family resi~
dence, approx1mately 48' by 24', erected by Edward: Wager and standing in 1834.

Building No. 16, a DWelllng House, was a two—story stuccoed stone one—family resi— :
. dence, approximately 28% by 20', erected by Edward Wager and standing in 1834.

Building“No. 17, a Dwelling House, was a two—story brick residence probably standing
in 1834. - L : i B : . o

- Building No. 18,‘a Dwelling House, was a two—storyrbriek»house probably standing
in 1834. , L : . .

Building No. 19, a Dwelling House, was a two—story'twoffamily brick residence
probably standing in 1834. : o :

ABuilding No. 20, a Dwelling House, was a two-story brick residenoe-probably standingir

Building‘No. 21, a Dwelling‘House, was a two-storylrick residence standing in 1848,

~Building No,. 22 a Dweliing House, was a>two—story-stonefresidenoe; approximately
18' by 48', standing in 1834. : : S : : : ,

Building No. 23, a Dwelling House, was a sma%l frame structure standlng in 1834.
Building No. 24, ‘a Dwelling House, was a l-l/2-story‘§rame structure standlng 1n,1834.

Building No. 25, a Dwelling House, was probablyfa 1-1/2—story‘frame structure stand—
'1ng in 1834. ) . S , '

Building No. 26, the Chopping Mlll, was a- 1—1/2—story frame building erected by Hugh
Gilleece in 1840. , :

Bullding No. 27, a Dwelling’ House, was a two-story. re51dence, probably brick stand—
ing in 1834.

Building No. 28, a Carriage House, was a one—story bullding, probably a frame
carriage house, standing in 1834

Buildlng No. 29, a Dwelling House, @as a two-story res1dence, probably br1ck erect-
ed between 1848 ‘and 1857. e

(continued)
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Building No. 80, a one—story'frame‘structure, was probably a barn orfstorage shed.

‘Building No. 31, erected between 1848 and 1857; was. a one-story frame buildlng,,
probably a carriage house.

Building No. 32 was a two-story brick dwelling house,capprox1mate1y 32' by 15'
erected between 1848 and 1857

Building No. 33 was a two-story'brick'dwelling~h6useeereeted between 1846 and 1857.
Building No. 34 was a two-story brick dwelling:house erected between>1848 and - 1857. -
Building No. 35 was a two-story brick dwelling house erected betWeen 1848 and 1857.

‘Building No. 36 was a two-story brick- dwelllng house, approx1mately 44' by 24' by
13', erected between 1848 and 1857.

Bullding Nol 37 was a one-story frame building, probably a dwelling, ‘erected be- .
tween 1848 and 1857.

Building No. 38 was probably’therschoolhouseofor Free School District ‘No. 22; which
included the Island of Virginius,and Hall's and Throp's Islands. The: &-llz-story
frame building with ginderbread trim, built between 1848 and 1857, was used as a.
Federal hospital during the C1v11 War and was heavily damaged by 1865.

‘Building No. 39 was a brick carriage making shop built in 1857 for the carrlage
business of John and George Rohr, Its exact location is unknown.

The stone and timber dam agross the;Shenandoah'andﬁthe.stonEjrlver walls -and lock
gates, with the inner and outer basims thus formed, were constructed by the Harpers |
Ferry and Shenandoah Manufacturing Company in 1850. A wooden bridge approximately
75' long, with two stone abutments and one stone pier, ‘crossed the Shenandoah -
Canal from the mainland to the Island of Virginius. It ‘was reconstructed in 1974,

Prior to the Civil War the 1sland was. generally clear of trees, ‘with only a few

retained to shade the dwelling houses (see Photograph HF-490, 1857) . Most- dwellings
had small yards with vegetable: gardens enclosed by wood paling fences.

(continued)
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In November 1864, when the U.S. Military Railroad Corps rebuilt'the destroyed Win-
chester ‘and Potomac Railroad from Harpers Ferry to Stephenson's Depoty. it constructed )
a 60'-by-20' frame mess house and a 44'-by-20" frame storehouse on- Vlrglnius.

The great flood of 1870 destroyed ‘the iron foundry (Bldg.~No 1) Herr's. old flour
mill- (Bldg. No. 2), the sawmill (Bldg. No. 3), the machine ‘shop (Bldg. No.-4), the
-carriage making shop (Bldg. No. 39), and seven dwelllng houses. The old cotton mill
(Bldg. No. 6) was remodeled into-a modern flour mill in 1867-69; this was ‘badly - .
damaged in the 1889 flood and ceasedcproduction., Herr's dam. was- destreyed by the
flood of 1893, and the abandoned mill ‘building was partially demolished in the 19203.
Its remaining walls and the last ‘surviving residences ‘on’ V1rg1n1us were flnally :
destroyed by the great flood of 1936. -

There are no ‘extant standing structures on Virginius, but. the foundatioh rulns of
the major 1ndustr1al structures are still largely visible and those of the lesser -
commercial and residential structures are probably: present underground. Archeolo-
giwal investigations have revealed many remains, including tools, and a second or
south- canal branching from the canal feeding the sawmill. n :

‘Armo gy Dwelllngs on South Bank of Shenandoah

Armory Dwelling No. 9, a two—story stone house bullt between 1818 and 1830, was
located on the Loudoun bank of the Shenandoah River near the Shenandoah Bridge. -
During the 18508 it was rented by the Hillsborough and ‘Harpers Ferry Turnpike
Company as a. toll house. It was in fair condition and vacant at the end of the
Civil War. There are no visible remalns. : :

Armory Dwelling No. 10, a one-story stone house erected in 1810, ‘was located just
east of Armory Dwelling No. 9. Before the Civil War it was rented to an armorer.
In 1865 it was in good conditlon and occupied free of rent by a Mrs. Stlpes.
There are no visible remains. : : '

;01d Arsenal Square, quck A Shenandoah Street

The 0l1ld Arsenal Square, Block A, Shenandoah Street, fronted 207 lOa on Shenandoahﬁ';
.Street. Its east edge ran from that street along the Wager: Ferry Lot Reservation .
184" to the Winchester and Potomac Rallroad The ‘west ‘boundary ran from Shenan-
doah Street 146' to the railroad. The' south side. bordered the railroad along iss
length of 247'. . : , : '

(continued) -
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Building No. 1, the Superintendent's 0ld Office, stood in the northeast corner of
01d Arsenal Square. The one-story brick: structure with slate roof, 28" by 21', was
erected prior to 1832 as a dwelling house. It was converted to an office for ‘the
Armory superintendent in 1832 and served this function until 1848. In 1859 the
building was being used by the Town of Harpers Ferry, under lease from the United
States, as a town hall with offices for the mayor and towm council. At the end of -

the Civil War it was in good condition and serv1ng as a U S. post office. {@éii:::}_
jportions of the foundations now gemain. : . :

’Building No. 2, the Small Arsenal, stood in the’ northwest corner of the ‘square.
Erected in 1806 -07, it was a two-story brick building measuring 68' by 36" with
cellar, two-foot-thick walls, floors supported by stone columns, a slate roof,
and no chimneys. It was used for the storage of arms. . Federal troops burned the
building on the night of April-18, 1861, to keep its 15 000 stands of arms out of

Confederate hands. Only the ruined brick walls stood in 1865, and only portions 3
;of the foundations How Tremain.

Building No. 3, the Large Arsenal, stood in the center of the square. Erected in
1799-1800, it was a two-story brick building measuring 125' by 32' with arched
windows, no cellar, and no chimneys. It was used for the storage of erms,»but*be—
cause of its poor condition by 1859, only miscellaneous supplies were stored on the

- second floor. The first floor served to quarter the U.S. troops sent to guard the
Armory as a result of the John .Brown raid. Federal troops burned the building on
the night of April 18, 1861, to deny it to the Confederates. After reroofing, the
first floor was used by the Union Army in 1864-65 as a bakery supplying Sheridan s
forces. Only portions of the f0und§tlons aré now extant.~ ;

A high stone wall erected in 1825-26 ran along the east side of the square. A gate
in this wall originally opened to ‘Potomac Street through ‘Lot No. 3 of the Wager
Ferry Lot Reservation, but by 1844 a building stood on ‘this lot and access 1n51de
the square was through the musket barrel fence erected along the north side in 1835.
A high stone wall erected in 1856-57 separated the square from the Winchester and
Padtomac Railroad to the south, and a good paling fence ran from the rear of the
Small Arsenal to the railroad along the west side of the square. - In 1859 a new
fence of brick piers and iron palings ‘was constructed along ‘the north er: Shenandoah
Street side. The grounds within were- planted in grass and included six or seven
shade trees. Underground pipes conveyed water from the U.S. Potomac Canal, in the
Musket Factory yard, to Arsenal Square for ‘fire protection.

5
}

(continued)
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In 1864~ 65 the U.S. Military Railroad Corps erected three one—story frame structures
_in 01d Arsenal Square near the Superintendent's 0ld-Office. These were a mess
house, - 62' by 21', with a 26' by 13' wing; a build1n3116'vby’16', and:a,buildﬂng

18’ by 16'. : : : LU

In 1869 Block A was. subdivided -and" sold to various citizens who pulled down. tbe
ruined walls of the arsenal buildings. By 1890 five brick and frame:structures of
‘up.to three stories had beenterected on. the block, containing shops on the _ground
floors and living guarters .abeve: In 1957 58. these structures, then ruined and
abandoned, were demolished in the National Park Service's program of remov1ng
post-Civil War additions. Thereafter archeologlsts located foundations of the -
two arsenal buildings, the 01d Superintendent's @ffice, and fences together w1th
remains of destroyed muskets in the Small Arsenal basement.

The Musket Factory Fire Engine House, popularly known as "John Brown's Fort"
(Musket Factory Bldg, No. 1, Park Bldg. No. 63), ‘'was moved to the east. side of
Arsenal Square in 1968. It is a ome-story brick building, 35-1/2' by 24', with
slate roof, copper gutters and  downspouts, and a wooden .cupola for a fire bell.
Designed by Maj. John Symington, Armory Superintendent, it was first erected
~across Shenandoah Street in the Musket Factory yard in 1847-48. It contained one
room for two fire engines and a guard room for the night watchmen. John Brown
seized and held this building during his raid of October 16-18, 1859. In 1865
the building was in good condition and used as a Union gunpowder magazine. In -
1892 it was dismantled and reassembled for exhibit as “"John Brown's Fort" at the
.Columbian Exhibition in Chicago. In 1895 it was returned to Harpers Ferry where,
because its original site was unavailable, it was reassembled on Alexander Murphy's
farm overlooking the Shenandoah River near Boliver Heights.r It remained there as a’
museum until 1910, when the trustees of Storer College acquired it and moved it to
the campus on Camp Hill. It continued as a museum on that site until 1960, when
the college closed and its property: was acquired by the National Park Service. By
now somewhat diminished in integrity, the structure arrived at its present location
in 1968, was restored in 1976-77, and awaits ultimate return to its orgginal. site
when that land is publicly acquired and regraded. : :

(continued)
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The Musket Factory, U.S. Armorv

The Musket Factory of the U.S. Armory was located along the south bank.of the Potomac
River above its confluence with the Shenandoah. * It originally comprised some 20
buildings, of which only the following occupied land ‘now included within the authe-.
rized boundaries of Harpers Ferry National Hlstorical Park.

The Lumber House and Coal Bin: (Hlstorlcal Base Map Bldg. ‘No. -10), at- the west end
of the Musket Factory yard, was. designed by Maj. ‘John Symington and erected c. 1848,
The two-story building measuring '55'8" by 78' had a stone first story, a brick second
story,.and a slate roof. The first floor was used for coal storage and the second '~
floor served for the storage of lumber. - The second floor windows had wooden frames

. and blinds for air circulation. Confederate soldiers burned the structure on June
14, 1861, .and the ruined walls were leveled after 1884.~ Subsurface foundationere— '
mains may be present. - : :

The Warehouse (Bldg. Eo. 12) was designed by Maj Henry K. Craig and erected ‘in
1844~45 at -the eastern end of the Musket Factory yard. The twe-story brick build-
ing had stone foundations, a flagstone floor, 4nd a slate roof and measured 93'6"
by 30'10". It was used for the storage of iron, steel, and other supplies. . Con-
federate twoops burned the building on June 14, 1861. After reroofing its walls
in 1864, the Union Quartermaster and CommisSary Departments used it as a warehouse
through the rest of the war. The ruined walls were leveled between 1884 and 1886
but the stonme foundations are still visible.

The Smith and Forging Shop (Bldg. No. 13), des1gned by Maj John Symlngton, was a
‘three-part building with overall dimensions of 280" by 35-1/2'. The- forging shop, -
the west wing, and the center offices were built in 1845-46; the smith shop, :the "
~east wing, was added in 1847-48 next to the warehouse descrlbed ‘above. The shops
were brick on stone foundations with brick and flagstone floors, cast iron. door:
and window frames, and sheet iron roofs. The one-story forging shop- measured,122'”
by 35-1/2', the one-story smith shop measured 121' by 35-1/2', and the two-stotry
center measured 46' by 37'. In the middle of the back (Riverside) wall of the
center building was the main chimney stack, 90' high, lO feet square at the base,
and six feet square at the tép. The stack was. built upon a massive stone arch
thrown across a tail race from the canal in the factory yard. In 1852 ventilators -
were installed along the lengths of the roofs of the wings. -Confederate troops -
‘burned the bulldlng én June 14, 1861. The brick walls were reroofed so that the

. building could serve-as a warehouse for the Quartermaster and Commissary Depart- .
ments of the Union Army durlng 1864-65. The walls were leveled between ‘1889 and

(continued)
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1896, but the stone® foundatlons of about three-quarters of the building are still-”
'V1sib1e. The remainder of the site is outside the authorized park boundary and is
now occupied by the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Station at Harpers Ferry.;v' :

hThe Rolling Mill (Bldg. No. 18), de81gned by Maj John Symington, was erected by 20
Col Benjamin Huger and Maj. William H. Bell in’ 1852-55 over an outlet of the power: -

" canal at the west end of the Musket Factory yard. The 146'-by-45" one-story br1ck°‘1:,
" building was 16-1/2' high- on stone foundations had a flagstone floor, water - -
wheels, cast iron door and window frames, - and a s ite roof. There were two stacks
45" apd 40" high. The Confederates burned the structure on June 14, ~1861, but

- most of the machinery was left intact. . The: building was reroofed and used as a

- pulp mill by the Savery Company after 1889. About three-fourths of the original
length of the structure still stands, and 1t has most recently functioned as an
electric power generating station. - :

In. 1840—43 the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Company ‘erected asmassive stone wall
along the Potomac River bank side of the Musket Factory yard. It was 1380' long,
15" high above the low water level, and 4-1/2' thick. It contained eight culverts ;i
“for the tail races from the Armory workshops. The wall was built 20' out from'a
similar river wall built by the Armory in 18% 1~9 whioh ‘had also been constructed:
some: 20" out from the previously existing shoréline and: filled in behind. Portions
of the second wall are still present.  The railroad. originally ran on an irom: ’
trestle above and behind this wall; it was moved inland to its present alignment
in 1892-93. : :

The-Potomac Canal of the U.S. Armory carried water from the Armory's Potomac Dam
inland parallel to the south bank of the river: to,supply pover - to the Musket

~ Factory shops. It was reconstructed and enlarged ‘ tween 1830 and 1837, and ‘be-
tween 1854 and 1860 both sides from ‘above the Rolling Mill down through. the fac- -
tory yard were lined with cut stone walls six feet high and 4-1/2' thick. The. lower
portion of the canal from the Rolling Mill east was f led in ‘and covered with a -

;railroad siéing along much of its course in 1892-92. The upper - portion from the'
dam to the Rolling Mill, a distance of about a mile, is intact and has functioned -
to power the electrical generators in the’ former mill.¢ It dg Walled with dry—laid
stone. 7 . :

%

(continued)
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B & 0 Potomac River Bridge

De31gned by Benjamin H. Latrobe,- this bridge was;: constructed by: the. Baltlmore and .
_ Ohio Railroad:€ompany in 1835-37.  Its two stone ‘masonry: “abutments and six ‘piers
were erected by Charles Wilson;.the wooden. ‘Ssuperstructure-was ‘built ‘by:Lewis Wern- -
- wag, In 1841-42 a curved span .or Y was added: the western end of ‘the bridge to -
carry the main line of the B & 0 up ‘along ‘the Potoma, 's south bank. In:®1851 the
original wooden straight leg of/the ¥, knewn as ‘the Winchester Spanﬂfbr'its align-
ment with the Winchester and Potomac Railroad throug ‘Harpers Ferry .to Winchester,
was réplaced with an iron truss: ‘span deSIgned ‘and erected by Wendel:Bollman.- The:
bridge then consisted of two:stone -abutments, six stone piers, seven wooden: spnns,—
‘and one irom span. = From east to west, the spans measured 122.6", 76'; 128.9', o
- 127%, 126.6', 126.6', 130.6' (curved span), and 124' (iron span). .All the wooden
' Spans were covered w1th weatherboarded sides and tin roofing. - Confederate troops -
demolished the superstructure on June 14, 1861. The»stone abutments and piers are
ostill present. S e ‘ L7 '

Wager Ferrv Lot Reservation

The Wager Ferry Lot Reservation, privately owned by the Wager - family, cevered the .
‘strategic "Point" east of 0ld Arsenal Square and south of the Musket Factory .
property at:the confluence of the Potomac and Shenandoah rivers. It was built up
with .commercial structures prior to the Civil War. - The -area north of Potomac -
Street and the old Winchester and Potomac right-of-way remains in private owner-
ship., - The 'portion of the reservation now Within the park boundary. contained

the following structures:

The Gault House Saloon was located between the Winchester'and Potomac. Railroad
tracks and the Shenandoah River op9031te the end of. Potomac Street.« It consisted
of two frame two-story houses constructed by John A. Gibson: between 1841 and. 1843,
'Each ‘house fronted some 30' on the railroad and had - its‘rear ‘wall resting on the
river wall about 20' back. A central chimney served ‘both houses.. In 1859 the =
property was owned by the estate of Gerard B. Awage §ﬁWas leased to Carey'Thompson,
and was operated by George W. Chambers, The tavern was involved- ¥m the John_Brown
raid that October, as some of the Virginia militia did their best fighting and :
drinking from this building. The ‘structure was- burned by Federal troeps on Feb—
ruary 7, 1862, and there are no v1sib1e remains. :

Wager Lot No. 2, on the southwest side of .Potomac Street “just north of the ra11— :
road tracks, contained a three-story brick building constructed by Gerard B. Wager
between 1837 and 1848. In 1859 the first floor contained the jewelry store of

W. L. Wagner and the upper two floors were residential.: The structure was burned -

' (continued)
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by Federal troops on February 7 1862 and there are no- visible remains, -

Wager Lot Noi 3, vacant in 1836, contained a 1—1/2—story frame house erected between
that date and 1844. In 1859 the property. was “owned" byﬁthe estate of Gerard B. Wager
and occupied by Joseph E. Brady, who ‘eperated.a ‘barbe shop ‘there. -The buildiéng was .-
burned by Pnion soldiers on February 1y 1862 and. there are o visible remains.

Wager Lot No. 4 contalned a stone building erected befﬁ"?1830 that fronted :on. Pe—~

tomac Street approximately 55' ‘and was about 20" dee Owned by the:estate:of.

Gerard- B. Wager in 1859, the building then had its first fleoor reated by Solomon.

V. Yantis for his "Sign of the Indian Girl"™ tebacco shop and ‘its second floor used
for living quarters. Federal soldiers burned the bulldlng on February 7 1862 and
: there are no v1sib1e remains.,

Wager Lot No. 5, on the -corner of Potomac and: Shenandoah streets, contalned .a large.
3-1/2-story brick building erected by Samuel Gibson in 1834. ' The structure fronted
approximately 60" on Potomac Street and -extended about 20' on Shenandoah Street.
. Owned in:1859 by W. J. Stephens, the building then contained his clothing store
and the hat, cap, boot, ‘and shoe store of Moore and Boteler. ‘Stephens resided on
" the upper floors. Union troops burned the building on February 7, 1862 and there
‘are no visible remains.

Subsurface renains of the foregoing Wager Ferry Lot-structures are probsbly Present.

Wager Six Acre Reservation Business District--North Side Shenandoah Street

The Wager Six Acre Reservation, privately owned by the Wager family, covered a
major portion of the lower town of Harpers Ferry north of Shenandoah Street and

' west of Potomac Street. Ten commercial buildings in this tract fronted Shenandokh
Street between Potomac and High . streets and west of"High'Street by the time of the

Civil War. An -inventory of these and annexed - structures follews, from Potomac
Street westward.

Wager Lot No. 14 contained a 3—1/2—story brick bullding ‘with cellar and slate
roof erected by Michael Foley in 1837-38 (Park Bldg.~No. 9). It fronted 29-1/4"
on Shenandoah Street and was 40' deep along ‘Potomac: Street. . The first floor con-
tained a store and the upper floors ‘were used for 1iv1ng quarters. - In 1841-42
John O'Hara erected a 2-17/2-story brick annex at-the rear (Park Bldg. No. 8).
Measuting 16' wide by 29' long,; this addition had a roof with two dormers. pitchis
steeply to the west and a two-story frame porch on the west. It probably ‘co tained

(continued)
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a kitchen and pantry ‘and bedrooms on the upper'floors.; The house was: probably 0¢—
cupied in 1859 as the dry goods store and residence of John G. Ridenour. .. The -
National Park Service reconstructed Buildings 9 and 8 to their antebellum: exterler‘
appearance in,;gzgzzgij A store front of cast:iron, . wood ‘and stamped sheet metal’

.~added to the first floor of Building- 9 ‘shortly - before 1896 was removed to recon— .
struct the original store front. - ,

Wager Lot No. 15, Subdivision No. 3, contained two adJoining brick buildings erected
by Philip Coons in 1846-47.  That fronting Shenandoah: Street’ (Park: Bldg. No. -
2-1/2 stories, -a cellar, and a-slate roof. It fronted 28"2" on Shenandoah St—,
and was 40'10" deep. A large covered two-story frame porch and two dormer windows .
faced the street, and a large glass skylight was on the. opp051te (north) side of the
roof. In 1859 the first floor was occupied by Nisan: Frank's ready-made clothing
store. Attached at the rear was a two-story structure, 25' wide and - 36-1/2" deep,

with a slate roof and no cellar (Park Bldg.'No. 10A)." The west wall contained two
chimneys each serving two fireplaces. The first floor was probably used as a ware-.
house or counting room in connection with the store in the main building. - The

second floor probably contained a kitchen, pantry, and extra space for the dwelling
portion of the main building. In 1859 the upper floors of both buildings were oc—-.
cupied as a boardinghouse operated by Fanny J. Butter. After the Civil War a

third story and attic were added to the main bu11d1ng, its front porch was removed,

and its first floor store windows were enlarged. TIn 1978-79 the National Park
Serv1ce reconstructed the exteriors of the buildings to their antebellum appearance.,—'

Wager Lot No. 15, Subdiv151on No. 2 contained a 3—1/2—story brick‘bﬁii&ing with
~cellar and slate roof erected by William ‘Anderson and Ann C. Steplétson in: 1838-39.
It fronted 32' on Shenandoah Street and was;40'10" deep. An iren balcony ran along
the street front at the second floor levelaof this structure (Park Bldg. No. 11).
A two-story brick wing, 19'5" by 32'11" with slate roof, was added to the rear_by
William Anderson between 1840 and 1845 (Park Bldg. No. 11A). : The first floor of.
the main building contained a store, with a small kitchen: and cold storage room:in
the addition. The upper floors :of .the main building 1ncluded nine -rooms, ‘six w1th
 fireplaces, and a pantry. The second floor of the wing contained a kitchen add
_pantry designed for use in conjunction with the dwelling portion of the main build—
ing. The buildings were occupied as the dry goods store and Yesidence of Charles
Johnson -in 1859. The -upper floors of the main. buildlngnwere damaged - during the -
Civil War, after which Daniel Ames, the new owner, -added a full story in place of
the original half floer. Around the turn of the century a new storefront wikh
" large windows was added and the interior was converted to lodging rooms and apart-
ments. In 1971 -the Natioamal Park Service removed the fourth ‘floor, and in 1978-79
it completed exterior restoration of the building to its antebellum configuration.

(continued)
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Wager Lot ‘No. 15, Subdivision No. 1, contalned a 3—1/2~story brick: building Wlkh cel— '
- lar and. slate,roof erected by. William.Anderson and ‘Ann C.. Stephensenlln 1838-39 <
~ (Park Bldg, No. 12). It fronted 28% on Shenandoah ‘ '
the second fleor level, and extended: back 40! 10't al
_contained a -storej.the living quarters above. probab
fireplaces, and a pantry. Between 1840 and: 1845 4
brick wing with cellar frontlng on High Street -
The addition ran 28'8" on High Street and exten
have originally contained a sm&ll shop and the se
In 1859 the main building was occupied as t ;
George W. ‘Taylor; Ann ‘Stephenson ‘then. resided.
- ing. Around.the turn of the century. large 8toj , rf,an1ndows and a cerner door
were added to the first story of the main. bulldlng. In.-1978-79 the. National Park
Service reversed these modifications in- restoring the building exteriors to their
antebellum appearance. . : :

Wager Lot No. 51, on the northwest corner - of Shenandoah and High streets, contained
a 2-1/2-story brick building with cellar and slate roof erected by William and =
Samuel B. Anderson in 1832. The building fronted 43" on Shenandoah Street add was
35' deep along High Street. A two=story brick annex about 14' by 12! was-added to
the rear between 1840 and 1845+ The first- floor of the main building contained a-
large store and the upper floors included nine rooms,'four with fireplaces.: The -
annex contained a kitchen and meat house. In 1859 the property was owned by Noah He
Swayne and occupied as the dry goods store ‘and residence of‘Fayette Je Conrad. In -
1894 the building contained a grocery store. . It was demolished c. 1921 for -the ‘con=
struction of a gasoline station on the lot. The station was removed prior ‘o 1954,
and the lot remains vacant. 2 :

Wager Lot No. 50 contains a 2—1/2-story stone. bullding'with 7o cellar and awood . .
- shingle roof constructed in 1844 (Park Bldg. ‘No.:38)« It fronts .41'9" on»Shenandoah .

Street and is 30' deep. A two-story frame porchaexte' cross the rear.. A four-
foot-wide alley in the center of the first floor; led jth ough‘the bullding to the -

rear.* The divided first floor contained two shops, ai he. upper floors ‘had. two

sets of living quarters with six ons ‘eagh. In 1 > 'west. half was occupied ¥
_as the: ‘butcher ‘and grocery store gresidence of ] ”7<Tearney. The living
. quarters over the other shop were then occupied by ‘Bernhard Hirsh, who operated a-
~store on Wager Lot No. 49. A small two-story .stone ructure about 14% by 16" was
‘erected in-the rear between 1844 and 1861 (Park: ‘Bldg 0. 39). It may have served

as a warehouse for the stores or -as a.kitchen and:smoke. house for ‘the residences .

in the main building. It now. houses electrical transformers. -The- exteriors of

both buildings are 1itt1e altered.k S

Q;U

*Now blocked on facade by Window*with'stone infillfbelow:- v (continued)
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Recent archeological investigations on Wager LOt‘NQ. 50 have revealed the foundations
of an 18th century structure, possible a stable, within Park Bldg. 38. ,These early '
remains are currently exposed for 1nterpretation ‘o the public. : S

 Wager Lot No. 49 contained a two-story stonevbuildlng:erected by Daniel A. Weed in.

. 1814 (Park Bldg. No. 40). The building, which fronted 32'8" on Shenandoah Street
and was 34'4" deep, had a cellar, a wood-shingled gable roof, and a-large two-story
frame porch extending out over-the sidewalk. The first:floor contalned ‘a/large store
and the second floor three rooms used as living quarters.; In 1859’Ph111p Frankel &
Company's Ready-Made Clothing Store occupled the first floor white William Richards,
owner of-the property, lived above.  During the ®ivil War the building was burned
out and its gable roof and front porch were destroyed.‘ After the war it:'was :ebuilt
with brick second and third stories and a flat roof. ‘Around 1900 larger display
windows were installed on the ground floor. The bulldingfcurrently exists in its
modified form. o

Wager Lot/No. 48 originally contained a two-story stome building with wood-shingled
gable roof probably erected by John Wager, Jr., between. 1803 and 1813. It fronted
_about 37" -on Shenandoah Street and was 17' deep. The first floor contained one
store ‘and the secondl floor contained living quarters. Between 1835 and 1861 a two~ -
story addition approximately 12" square was constructed on the east end of the-
building, extending it across the entire front of the lot.  In 1859 the building .
probably contained David Whip's tailor shop or- John Legg's shoemaker shop.- Between " -
/1865 and 1894 the building was demolished. In 1898-99 much rock was: blasted from

the high cliff at the rear of the lot to provide space for the erection of a large
three-story stone department store (Park Bldg. No. 41). 'This and another later
structure (Park Bldg. No. 42) were demolished by the National Park Service in 1957.
Removal of the department store revealed the still-present ghosts of the c. 1813
building on the side walls of flanking Park Bldgs. 40 and 43. The lot remains -
vacant, ‘ '

Wager Lot No. 47 contains a 3—1/2‘story stone bullding ‘constructed by Nicholas
Marmion and Martin Graco in 1845. Fronting 40' on Shenandoah Street and measuring
31'4" deep, the building has no cellar, a large three-story covered,frame porch
across its facade, and a-slate gabled roof with four front dormers. It was original-
ly divided by a central brick wall running on ‘the lot subdivision line; each half
contained a store on the ground floor and living® quarters above. In 1859 Nicholas
Marmion owned the west half, the heirs of Frances MhCabevowned the east half, and .
James McGraw operated a grocery’and liquor store and- a.fish market in in the flrst

" floor stores. ‘A 2-1/2-story stone! ‘annex; §beh1nd the west half_~*_§probably

»(continued)
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contained kitchens and pantrys for the main building., A fire gutted the east: half k
of thk building in 1949, by which date. the front perch -had.: disappeared. The,interi- :
- or brick party.wall collapsed following severe eather- in 1960, which se damaged - :
the frent wall that it had to' be taken down:: ilt, - In- 1973 ‘new- doors, sash,
~ and frames of antebellum design were installed | in” 1975—76»the frent pQrch was -
reconstructed, largely restoring the exterier to: its antebellum: appearance.r The
1nterior 1is -wholly undivided.. (Park Bldg, No. 43} o

—story stone house fronting 38 .
dg. No. 44), erected “by+Philip
. fleor was divided- by a brick par-

Wager Lot,No. 46 contains What was originally a two
~ on Shenandoah Street and measuring. 32! deep. (Paz
‘Coons in 1845-46. There was no cellar; the firs:
tition into two stores; the second floor contained five rooms and was designed for
uBe as a dwelling. In 1845—46 a stone third floo nd a slate roof were added by
the Masonic Order of Happers Ferry. A wooden exterior: stair at the west ‘end pro-—:
- -Vided access to the thied floor, which contained a large meeting room and a‘smaller
~ room. .In 1859 one of the stores (probably that on the west) and the second floor:
 quarters .were occupied by John N.. ‘Stonebraker as his bakery and residences’ “The -
other shop, ‘vacant that October, had previously been occupied by William Newton's
grocery and butcher shop. . The third floor housed ‘the- Masonicéﬁéil;;bf Charity
Lodge No. 111. William Richards, owner and resident of Wager Lot s then owned -
the property. - The Natlonal Park Service has restored the exterior of the,building
- to- its 1859-65 appearance Whlle adapting the 1nterior to contemporary uses..

~Wager Lot -No. 46 occupies the southwest corner of the Wager 8ix Acre Reservation.f
- Adjoining it on the west is U.S. Lot" No. l, Shenandoah Street, €ontaining: Park
Bldg. No. 45 (see page 12 above)

Wager Six,Acre.Reservation—-High and'Potomac'StrEets ,:

The following inventory proceeds north on the west: 51de of Potomac Street to
Swayne Street; thence south on the east side of High' et, thence .north on the

. west side of High Street to Marmion ‘Way. Included are.those park. properties on
Potomac and High streets north (or northwest) of those. cussed above.in connec—
tion with Shenandoah Street. , i C

Wager Lot No. 15, Subdivisions No. 2 and 4, originally contained a one-story stone
building measuring 24' by.40' with cellar and slate roof, erected by William Ander-
son in 1838-39, - Between 1847 and 1852 Frederick A. Roeder radded a second stone
story. In 1856 the front part of the buildlng was removed for the widening of
Potomac. Street, reducing its depth to 20'.  The street facade was rebuilt with
brick for the second story and gable end.  The first: floor was a tavern called-
"White Hall" for most of the years from 1848 to 1953 In 1859 John Fitzpatrick,

PR } L (continned),



Form No. 10-300a
{Rev. 10-74) .

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR -
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTINUATION SHEET o "ITEMNUMBER 7 - PAGE: zs

a stonecutter, probably: occupied the re31dential quarters on :the second . floor.'VIn
1861-62 the structure (now Park Bldg; No. 7) was: used by the- Unlon Army as 4 stable.r

The "eastern part of Wager Lot No. 16 facing~PetomaciStreet contains a- two—steyy -
- building constructed by Frederick A. Roeder ‘in ! =57 -(Park Bldg. ‘No, “5)- to" replace,
- the’space-lost when his building mext door(Par .. No.7) was shortened. < In -
dimensions and materials; the structure was a nea win*Of;itsxtruncated"neighber;‘_
It had no cellar, however, and by 1861 a two-story brick. wing with a slate-covered .-
shed: roof, 12'7" by 13', was added to its rear. “butlding was variously used as .-
- a tavern; store, -and Warehouse, and was also occup: by the Union Army as-a- .gtable -

in 1861-62. Bldgs. 5 and 7 Stand today in essentlaliy their Civil War: conflgura- o
tions.: , , , i : :

_The western- part of Wager Lot No. 16 facing High Street contalns what was orlginalr
- ly a two-story stone structure, fronting 22' on High ‘Street and measuring about ’
{17-1/2' deep, built by Frederick A. Roeder in 1844 (Park" Bldg. No.-16). ‘' Because
- of the sloping terrain, the first story was- above. ground at the rear but below :
grade on High Street, so that an areaway on that elevation provided direct: access
to the second floor. In 1848-49 Roeder extended the building with a stone addition _
about 13" to the north (or northwest), bringing the. ‘structure to its. present plan
dimensions of about 35' by 17-1/2'. - The rubble stone walls were pargeted. - In 1856~
57 a brick story-and-a-half was built atop the existing stone walls. ‘An -ornamental
cast iron balcony was instgdled across the . ngh Street facade at the juncture of
. the stomne and- brick, and a covered two-story frame porch. extended across the rear.
 Before 1859 a two-story brick structure, about 14" by 11', was erected at the outer.
edge of the rear porch on the south side of the lot (Park . Bldg. No. 16A). The main
building was the residence afid probably the shop ‘of Roeder; a. confectioner,_from
1845 to 1861. It housed troops during the Civil War and continued in residential -
use until 1953.» Its exterior has been largely restored to its Civil War- appearance.

The western part of Wager Lot No. 15 Subdiv131on 4 fac1ng ngh Street contains a
' 2-1/2=story stone structure erected by William Ander on in 1838-39. (Park Bldg. No.r
15).  The building fronts 24' on High Street and measﬂ - 408" deep “ The full -
basement ‘beneath is wholly above grade at the rear. Projecting from the eadt eéd
of the south elevation is a 1—1/2-story stone . w1ng,;wh1ch is the remaining. twu—;_.
~ thirds of -ap earlier structure on the site possibl; dating from 1803.. Construction
of the 1838-39 building caused -destruction of the western third of . this structure
and conversion of the remainder to a ‘kitchen wing: of the new. building, ‘measuring
‘about- 15' square. A frame second story and:attic was added to - the wing probably
in the decade after the Civil War; : Between 1894 and. 1907 ‘a two-story covered

(continued)
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?the seuth elevation abutting the -
ne a storefront with larger ‘dis-

i frame poreh and enclosed stalrway was: bullt al '
‘raised kitchen wing. At approx1mately -the same:
play windews and a covered ‘one-story- porchower dded- tozthe High Street™ facade.

For most ‘of“the period 1839-1952 ‘thk building corx a ‘small .shop-"in“the first
floor room on High Street and. dwelling ‘rooms ‘rented to one or more families. ~The-
National Park Service has removed the frame po 1d:-addition atep the kitchen
wing while retaining the turn—of—theveentury s,or fr nt;-(The ‘building is commenly -
known as the Susan Downey House for its ownership by Mrs.- Downey and: her- he1r Erom
1846 to 1868 ) ek ,

‘The - northwestern ‘corner of Wager Lot No. 15, Subdi ision 1 contained a: one—story
frame building on a low brick foundation erected by Al g
_one-room building, occupied by Burton's jewelry 8
‘and was 20'5" deep. The National Park Service dis: he facade
and side elements of the little-altered structure '1956 to preserve 1t¢while

restoration-work proceeded .on: neighboring bulldings.'xIts ultimate reassembly is-
planned. (Bark Bldg. No. 14) : R DR o '

To the rlght of Burton's store on the same lot - subd1v181on was‘another one-story
frame shop probably erected in 1850 by Ann C. Stephenson. It fronted 21" on ngh
Street and was about 15' deep. In 1859 it ‘contained ‘either a shoemaker! s-shop or:
a small grocery store., Between 1886 and 1890 it was completely rebuilt. In 1956
the National Park Service demolished the rebuilt: structure (Park Bldg. No. . 13)
Foundation remains are present onsite.

Wager Lot No. 52, on the west- side of ngh Street one" lot up from. the corner of -
Shenandoah Street, contains a two-story stone: bullding probably ‘constructed by .
John Wager, Jr., between 1803 and 1813 (Park Bldg. ‘No. 37). The buildlng orlginal-
1y had a wood-shingled gable roof , fronted 29'4" on High Street, and was’ abo - 18"
deep. The first floor contained one store-and the sec floor contained li¥ing
quarters. By 1844 a small frame*A'l/z-story kitchen, approximately. 22’ “by-15',
“ projected from the north part of the rear elevatio at ‘its second floer level; as -
" the- buildlng backed against a. hill. In 1859 the buil . was.occupied’ by ‘John T.
Rieley as his boot and shoe making,shop and residence.  About 1900 the - front'wall )
- _was advanced about eight or nine: feet ‘to the edge’. :sidewalk. - The- gable roof
was then replaced by a flat roof pitched ‘slightly rearward behind a. stra1ght
bracketed cornice across the top of the facade. T wifront wall contained -
larger store display windows, and the first floor was lowered about four feet: to 7
match the level .of the sidewalk. The kitchen wing was removed. The building -
remains as modified. : T L Lo

(continued)
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Wager Lot No. 53B, on the north: 31de of theistone steps across from Lot 52, centainedx
.a one—story~frame house erected: by: William Moo *between "1845-and '1848. It - fronted
about 19' on High Street and measured. abeutfls eep. = The -building was demolishe&;zf;x
Prior to 1954=<and the lot is<n0w¥vaeant.i~5'~') e e : o

-,Wager Lot No. .53A originally- contained ‘a 3—'ﬁ
‘Samuel M, Williams about. 1849, - The ‘structut frq
was. about 20' deep, with an areaway about nine fe_

ﬁstone building;erected by -

ed: about. 28" on -High Street: and
wide ‘between the rear wall. -and-
wo stories,were pargeted. The

tained a 3—1/2—story brick building ereeted b fMichael Doran in: 1849u This bu11d?«
_ing fronted about 20' on High Street and was: bout\21f deep,‘w1th a one-story poreh
at the rear. It was demolished between 1894 and - Between these dates the .
existing three-story brick: building on Lots 53. and754B ‘was: constructed.A It fronts o
41" on High Street and abuts the cliff at" the rear of the lot ‘some 33' back. The
facade has two storefronts, segmental—arched windows above, ‘and ‘a brick dentil cor= -
nice at ‘the edge of a nearly flat roof. The third fdoor opens- to'a terrace on the
cliff at the rear. The first floor is currently used for storage and. the upper
floors for living quarters. (Park Bldg. No. 3) :

Wager Lot No. 54A orlginally contained a 3-1/2-story brick. Buildingﬁwith gable roof

erected by George W. Cutshaw in 1839. ‘The building fronted approx1mately 21" on -

High Street and was about 20" deep. The first fioor contained Cutshaw's tailor

shop and: the upper floors his living. ‘quarters. ' By 1893 this structure had been
‘demolished and replaced by a two-story frame building that fronted 19' on High

Street and was 23' deep. The National Park Service: demolished this Park Bldg. No.

2 in 1956, Only the ruins of: fireplaces in the rear wall of the: first house, bu11t<A
- up against the face of the cliff, are ‘now v131ble on- the 1ot.4 ’ L

Wager Lot No. 55A contained a three—story brick buildlng erected by Jehn A. Gihson
in 1848.  The structure fronted 22' on High Street and was: about 28" deep. Until
1856 it was an oyster house- and tavern known as. the Green House. In 1859 it was.
,apparently rented as:a dwelling by William- Small, a”carpenter, ‘and. James Wigginton,
a laborer. It was demolished in. the 1930s, and the 1ot remains vacant. © -

eng probably erected by the’
»out . 32' on High Street and - ,
}was demolished prior to 1954.»

Wager Lot No. SSB contained a three—story stone. bu
 Wager family prior to 1835. ‘The structure fronted
was about 22' deep. It was in ruins in therl9203

(continued)
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'Wager Lot~ No.- 56A or1g1na11y contained a 3—1/2—story;br1ck building with gable reef
erected. by, ‘Abraham Fleming in 1841. - The- struety sfabeut 20' 8q are infplan. o

. The first- floor contained two shop rooms -an In T
1859 the -building was- probably: the ‘saddle and '

- Whip. A two-story ‘brick wing with‘gable roof al

 from the noerth side of. the main-building. - The
tween 1886:and 1894 and was replaced: by a-lor
a stove store. The -latter strueture-disappeared
fireplaces in the rear wall of ‘the original bulldlng{”

" now vis1ble. - , :

30s," and only traces of
:against the cliff, are.

Wager Lot -No. 56B contained a 2-1/2-story brick bu11d1 : w1th gable roof probably e
erected by Gerard B. Wager between 1842 and 1848.¢ The structure fronted apprex1-‘r;
mately 36" on High Street wad was 18" deep.f A two-story frame: porch extended °
across the facade. 'In 1859 the: bulldlng was owned by Wager's estate and was
Aprobably occupied by John: MtCall - In the l930s ‘ruins of ‘the then—abandoned build-
ing were:still standing,: but they were ‘demolished prior to 1954. Only traces of
the rear wall, 1ocated against the cliff, are now v131b1e. : R

,Wager Lot-No. 56C contained a three—story brick and stone structure with gable roof
probably erected by Gerard B. Wager between' 18&3 and 1848. ~ The building’ fronted.
30" on High Street and was 17' deep at:its south end and: 12' deep at its north. endf.
A two-story porch ran across the facade; ‘and a two-story, ‘ibay-wide stone wing
extended to the north. In 1859 the property was owned by ‘estate: of Gerard
"Wager and occupied by Thomas Boerly as his residence | tavern. The'wing was in .
ruins by 1870 and the main structure was ruinous by the 1930s.. The- whole was de—; ~
molished prior to 1954, and only" traces of the rear'walls against the cllff are -
noW'v1sible. : -

Wager Six Acse Reservatlonr—Mgrmion,Wax

Marmion Way, on the hill west of lower High Street, provides access to the follow-

ing park properties: : n

Wager Lot No. 44 contains three abutting structureS?k.rjle east side eEMarmion

Way. The southernmost (Park Bldg ! measuring 45' by 35', ‘is
gable -Ttoof erected by

"James B. Wager in 1832-33. * The fu, : aséﬁent?ié¢aE6velgfade‘enrthe'east*fIOntu—
The north -four of the five bays on that- side are'recessed, and a tiered frame
porch (reconstructed in . 1957) £ills the recess. The door ‘on" the West front is

(continued)
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at the southernmost of the five bays. - Tweo end" chimneys and an internal one- plerce
the ridge; and each.side of the roof contains' three dormers. The- bulldlng was ,
owned and occupied by Dr. Nicholas Marmion ;in 1859 and has been restored to its . -
external appearance at that time. The:ecentral struc rei(Park ‘Bldg. No. 1C, 'the :
Second Marmion Tenant House) is ‘a stone house of‘ﬁ, / ories-erected before’ 18481"
_ A basement and cellar are exposed at the rear. This ding was built in- two -
parts, that.en the south three bays wide and - that on the north twe bays wide, each
with its own doorways. It has two interior chimneys and: three ‘dormers on each
side of the roof, The hoase measures 39'5™ Iong, 20" wide at the north end; and. -
25'3" wide at the south end. The northermmost (Park B dg; ‘No. 1D, the First Mar="
mion Tenant -House) styucture, also erected before 1848 alegns with its neighbor -
~ in height front and rear.  Its walls are stone up to the top sto;y, whleh is brick.
It measures 44'5" long, 20" wide at the south end, ‘and 15'3" wide at the north end.
It has two entrances on each facade and: chimneys at each end of -its ‘gable roof. L
. The latter two buildings were owned and rented out by Nleholas Mérmlon in-1859, thei'
period to which their exteriors have been restored. On.the we: n portion of Lot
44 across Marmion Way was a stone and frame stable (not extanﬁ', a vegetable
‘garden with stone rg;g%ning walls, first developed by James ‘B Wager in 1832-33.
{An icehouse built intoithe hill at the west edgeéof this: open area remains. -

Wager Lot No. 45 contains a 2—1/2—story stone building erected by Robert Harper as
- a tavern in 1775-82 and remodeled by James B. Wager in 1832-33 (Park Bldg. No. 1A,
the Harper House). 1Its underlying stone basement and cellar -are above grade on -
the east side of the structure, which meas&res 35' by 25'. An open frame porch on. -
‘columns projects from the east side above the ! cellar level, and a large two-story
frame porch covered by the structure's roof forms ‘the " south end of the house.. - A - -
bridge from,the second floor of the latter porch crosses: Marmlon Way: to the garden
area on the western portion of the lot, first developed by James Wager in 1832-33.

The stone structure is three bays wide and has two dormers on each side of its
wood-shingled gable roof. The Harper House is the oldest standing bulldlng in
Harpers Ferry. Until 1803 it was a tavern, where. Thomas Jefferson probably: stayed -
when he visited the town in October 1783 and George Washington stayed #n 1785.
From 1803 to 1836 it was the residence of the powerful Wager family, which held

a monopoly of all’ prlvately owned ‘1iand in the wown- from 1782 ‘to 1836." From 1832
to about 1847 it and the.adjace armion Hall formed a ‘unit; in 1847 - they ‘were’
subdivided to form two separateg~d, 1lings., In 1859 the ‘Harper House was owned

by Noah ‘H. Swayne and rented as a tenament to. two or'three families. In 1957-61 -
the National Park Service restored both the exterior and -interior to their 1859-65
appexrance, which required- reconstruction of the: porches. The_building is current=-
ly open as a furnished historic house exhibit. ’ - :

'(continoed)
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‘ _CaE Hill -

Camp H.lll is the high graund nerth af: the;lt
the lower -tewn of Harpers: Ferry deserib
(or were) located w1th1n the authorlzed'

Armorﬁ Bwelllng No. 21 a: two-story briek ‘he
~ stood in the middle of the platted South C

‘Wager Six-Acre Reservation and: about’ 17" so

‘Church (see page 13 above). Tt was rented ‘to

~ed and.vacant -at -the close of> the C:Lvil War: It
- are no visible remalns. S

probablye plaeleg it _iﬂ' '
s enimown. It was-a
‘1t was- demolished -

: just east of Harper s Graveyard, althemgh the exae, loecat
- one-story ‘frame building and was rented to'an. armur i
- by Union treeps for fuel during the Civil War.

. Jefferson 8 Rock is-a huge slab of shale resting J.n a balanced g031tien on the

iecon& stenﬁg of brick 7
' time a. i&rge WO -

Was. added te the frent or. east'

‘and a large c:.stern were built- ‘, ]

erected by "‘John - Hall in 1827 stoe ] : ouse. Lhe
- ; y consisted of ‘two-

acres enclosed by an eight—foot’Wood pallng fenee '.an orchard grape

There are no extant outbuildlngs. ' (contin ued)
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vines, ‘gardens, and paved walks. Armcry Paymaster Edward Lucas, Jr., llved ‘here
from 1848 until his death in 1858, whereupen Paymaster: Dennls ‘Murphy - occupied the
property ‘until 1861. In August 1864 Maj. Gen.. Philip H. Sheridan‘made ‘the house
his headquarters. In late 1865 Rev. N.C.. Brackett, -representing the U.S. Freed—

_men's Bureau, established a school in the house for 19 recently freed blaek child--
ren. In 1868 the Govermment transferred -the building te:Brackett for educational
purposes, and West Virginia granted the charter establ shlng Sterer'College ‘here.
The building was part of the college until 1955. "I 83 the college -added a mam=.
sard third story to what was now known as Leckwood House. : ' The Natienal Park: Service =

" removed this story in 1965-66 and»restored the exterior of - the Housé to - its 1860s

 appearance. The two first floor rooms adjacent to the west porch have’ also been:
restored ‘to reflect the origins of Storer College. (Park Bldg. No. 56)

Armory Dwelling No. 31, first the Armory Superlntendent s Clerk s quarters -and later o
‘Brackett House of Storer College, -is -on the south side of Flllmore ‘Street west .of -
Armory Dwelling No. 32. It was designed by Superlntendent Henry W. Clowe and erect—
ed in 1856-57. The main house is a two-story brick building with slate roof measur-
ing 39'9" by 33'2". At the rear or south side is a two-story brick wing measuring
23' by 18'8". One-story frame porches were built on the front of thé main house
and the east side of the wing. Archibald M. Kltzmlller, the Superintendent's clerk,
-occupied the house from 1858 to 1861. In July 1865 the house was in bad condition -
(like Armory Dwelling 32).'and was serving as a U.S. Sanitary Commission headquarters.
It was subsequently transferred to Storer.College, which" occupied it until 1955.:
Alterations include a two-story covered frame porch on the ‘east front*and the re--
moval of a rear porch and the substitution of a kitchen addition. The building -

is currently unrestored and used for offices. (Park Bldg. ‘No. 57)

Armory Dwelling No. 30, first the Armory Paymaster's Clerk‘s quarters and 1ater
‘Morrell House of Storer College, is on the south side of Fillmore Street ‘west of
Armory Dwelling No. 31. Its original plan was: identld‘l,to that of the latter
building and it was constructed s1mnltaneously. In July 1865 it was in bad condi~
tion and was being used by the Union Army. It was ‘transferred with the other build-
ings to Storer College, which enlarged it for industrial afts education and used it.
as an inn during the summers. In the late- l960s the Natlonal ‘Park Service recon-
structed- the orlglnal porches. The ‘structure is now used fOr park offices..

Armory Dweiling No. 25, first the Armory Superintendent '8 quarters and later
Anthony Hall of Storer College, is on the western crest of Camp Hill 'south of
Fillmore Street. The original building was: designed by th ‘John Symington and
erected in 1847-58 at a .cost of more than $21, 700. It was a:large two-story brick
house over an elevated basement with a two-story wing on, “the: north j01ned to the

] _ (contlnued)
Removed after 1975
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main block by a. passageway. The:roofs were: hipped andécovered with ‘slate: ~ Four

-. chimneys on the main ‘block.and one on the wing- serve en fireplaces with marble'
mantles. En 1851 a brick storehouse about 16" by 20' was erected north of the
house. Trees were planted on the grounds;; ;a'f, s reund were.graveled, and a -
garden w1th walks and interior fences was’ dev, epe ~ West: of ‘the house,in;1859 .
were a brick stable and four acres:of: ‘pasture enclosed with an-eight=foot-high -
paling fence. Until 1861 the house was occupied by the superintendents of the -
Armory. 1In 1864 it was: headquarters for. Brlg. Gen. Max:Weber, then: commandlng LT
‘the Harpers Ferry defenses. By July 1865 many of.1 mantles and much woodwork
had been removed and the bullding, -then used as Uni n officers' quarters, was in’
bad condition. After the war the building was transferred to Storer:College,.
which occupied it until 1955. In 1881 the college ‘demolished: the north: wing and -
incorporated the main house as the south wing of the sextdnt Anthony Hall (Park Bldg.
No. 59), ‘which contains a large pedlmented central gection and a ‘north:wing balanc— - .
ing the south. The building was badly: damaged by fire and repaired in 1927=28. In,f'
1963 the National Park Service made extensive. interior alterations and built new-
porticos on the east elevations of the wings and a flagstone terrace on the east
side of the central. section.A ‘In ‘the -late- 19603 an underground. bomb shelter was
added north of the north wing and connected- ‘to it. Now ‘known_ as - Conrad L. erth
Hall, the building contains classrooms and offices of the Service's Mather Train--
ing Center.

: Permelia Eastman Cook Hall (Park Bldg. No. 61) is a three-story stone buildlng

- with pedimented central pavilion erected on the southern crest of Camp Hill south
of Anthony Hall in 1940. It was a home economics and’ dormitory building for
Storer College. The National Park Service renovated it in 1962-63 as a dormitory
for the Mather Training Center.

The ‘Lewis We. Anthony Industr1a1 Buildlng (Park Bldg. No. 64) is ‘a:rubble - stone ,
structure with gable roof constructed in 1903 on: the‘hlllside southwest ‘of Anthony
Hall, One story is above grade.on the east and. two stories] storlesﬁare exposed -on the '
West., The overhanging eaves at the: ‘gable ends are dec rated with brackets and

wood trim at. the apex. The bullding orgginally housed ﬁcarpenter shop, . storage
‘rooms, and .offices for Storer College., Fn 1953 the College added -a ‘two-story.
concrete block stack -section. to the west side and converted the bulldrng to a
library. The bullding has continued in this ﬂunction 51nce its acqulsition by

the National Park Service in 1962 ' -

The Bird-Brady.House (Park Bldg.jNo. 69) was erected durlng the last. quarter of
the 19th- century on. the,brow of Camp~H111 south yof the Anthony Industrlal

(continued)
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Building.. A stone basement above grade at the.rear carries two stuccoed frame
stories and a hipped roof.: Built as a Storxer College- faculty -residence, it-is =
the only such structure remaining on the campus., The interior has been rehabili-
tated for- National Park Service offices. :

The Curtis Freewill Baptist Church (Park Bldg. No. 75)was erected in 1892 on ‘the
west side of Jackson Street between Fillmere and- thhington streets. It has a
stone basement, a brick main story, and.a crenelated square brick tower at the
east end of the south elevation containing the entrance doors. It was named for
Rev. Silas P. Curtis 'of New Hampshire, a- ‘Storer- College founder, and served the ]
college until 1955. The basement- has been refurblshed

Streets, Sidewelks, and Ground Coveré—TOWn.of-HerpersfFerrzv

 The three oldest streets in Harpers Ferry are Shénandoah Street, Potomac Street
(in the Wager Ferry Lot Reservation section), and High or Washington Street.

' Shenandoah Street and the oldest portion of Potomac Street were macadamized as
early as 1834 and the sidewalks in these sections were paved with flagstone. The
remaining portion of Potomac or North Cliff Street, running northwest from Wager
Lot No. 14 along the south side of the Musket Factory, was laid out by the United
States between 1848 and 1857. Wager Lot No. 17, between Lots 16 and 18 thithe Wager
Six Acre Reservatlon, was acquired by the‘Unlted States in 1856 and became Swayne
Street. .

All other streets in the upper town of Harpers Ferry were laid out by the United
States in 1852 in accordance with a plan conceived and developed by Maj. John
Symington, Superintendent of the Armory. They were. named that year by the twwn
officials in cooperation with the United States. In 1856-57 the United States
spent $5,650 in grading and w1dening ‘High or Washlngton ‘Street from Shenandoah
Street to the Lutheran Church on Capp Hill. Fillmore Street was greatly improved
by cutting and £illing, and McDowell, Gllmore, Columbia, and Lancaster streets
wvere opened and graded for the first time by the‘Un1ted States 'in 1856-57. Prror
to the Civil War all Harpers Ferry streets except for Shenandoah Street and the
Ferry Lot section of Potomac Street were unpaved, and many of the side streets
were little more than lanes.

' There were relatively few trees in Harpers Ferry. before the Civil War, other than
those retained to shade individual: dwellings. ' Numerous trees stood in the area of
Harper's Graveyard until 1862, when ‘they were cut by soldiers for fuel. Most
dwellings outside the commercial districts had their own garden plots where fresh

(contlgued)
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‘vegetables. and fruits were raised.to supply the- occupants families. House‘and
-garden lots were generally fenced by wneden picket fences.

CIVIL. WAR FORTIFICATIONS -

Bolivar Heights, Loudoun Helghts, and- Maryland Heights, rlslng to hlgh points of -
668", 1,080", and 1,448' above sea level respectively, completely enclose the
twwns of Harpers Ferry and Bolivar (to the west) on three sides. The- highest: point
on Camp Hill is 484" above sea level, Between 1862 and 1864 the Union Army for-
tified the crests of the three enclosing ridges and the western brow of Camp Hill
with a series of earthen and stone field fortlficationSfthat formed one giant de—
fensive complex. These are among the most extens1ve and best preserved examples
- of Civil War field fortifications now remaining. The fortifications- on Loudoun .
and Maryland Heights, many constructed of stone andrdifficult of access, are
largely intact and undisturbed. Those on Bolivar Heights, comstructed of earth
in areas that have been farmed for over a century, are less intact but are still
‘evident. The inner Camp Hill defensive earthworks are mno. 1onger v181b1e.

Boiivar Heights

Bolivar Heights is a ridge extending approximately 1.7 miles from the Potomac on

the north, where the crest is 600' h#gh, .to the Shenandoah on the south, where the
ridge is 500' high. The crest from the Potomac south to the Charles Town Turnpike
was defended by two batteries comstructed just prior to ‘the siege of September o
1862. 'Both were earthwozks designed to hold from four to six field guns. Battery»;-
No. 2 at .the northern end defended the Potomac approaches, Battery No. 1 near the
southern end covered the Charles Town Turnpike.

During the siege, Sept. 12-15, 1862 Union troops further constructed a 1ong shal—v
low rifle trench approximately 5000 1ong along the - crest of Bolivar Heights con-
necting Batteries 1 and 2. The! batteries and trench are ‘known' as the Col. Dixon -
Miles Line after the Union commander;defending Harpe Ferry ‘during the 1862 ‘siege.
(The rifle trench was manned by five Union. regiments during the siege. ‘Here Col.’
‘Miles met with his officers on Sept.. 15amd decided t render.  In the same area
 Miles received his mortal wound from Confederate artillery fire from Loudoun ‘Heights. )

In August 1864 the ridge Eetween the batteries was. further strengthened by improving
the 1862 trench into a solid earthwork about four feet high.. (The-resulting defense,
combined with the steep grade, made the Union right virtually impregnable, prov1ded ’
that Federal troops also controlled Loudoun and Maryland ‘Heights.)

(continued)
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The Bolivar Heights section of the park includes Battery No. l, 1ocated near U S.,
Route 340 to Charlestown, and approximately 3000' of rifle trenches. extending north—
ward., The battery was a five~sided work, open on the north side with -earthen walls"
113" long ‘on the east side, '38' on the southeast face, 73" on the southwest face, -

~ and 200' on the western face, which connected with the trench line. - The earthworks
of the battery and trenches on park land are still. from two to three feet high.
(The trenches continue north of the park boundary for approximately 200-~300 feet,
Keyond - which they and Battery ‘No. 2 have been obliterated by later'development.) o

The Union left of the Bollvar Heights line extended from the Charles Twwn.Turnplke
on the north about .7-mile to the Shenandoah. This section is not within the park
and is: therefore not 1ncluded ‘hbze: (but see page 42 1ast paragraph).

On the morning of Sept. 15, 1862, Confederate Maj. Gen. Ambrose P. Hill began his
‘assault on the Union left while “Stonewall" "Jackson's division probed at the Union.
‘right, Federal troops on the left were driven back to a position extending from :
the Charles Town Turnpike near Battery No. 1 southeast along the top of the plateau -
now known as Cavalier Heights, which was-located east of the Charles Town-Harpers .
Ferry Turnplke as it ran down -through a ravine to the. Shenandoah. - As Hill's forces
were sweeping across the crest on the left of Bolivar Heights and on to the Cavalier
Heights position, Col.Miles opened the negotiations with Jackson leading to the sur-
render-of 12,693 Union soldiers later that day. In addition to being the final po-
sition of the Union left during the siege of 1862, Cavaller Heights served as a
Union campground durlng the 1ater periods of the war.

Approximately 34 acres,of thercavalier Heights'plateau is now included in the park.
The forested hillsides and ravines and open fields of the plateau are much as they
were in September 1862. This ground appears never' to have been fortified.

Magzland Heights

Federal troops occupied Harpers Ferry from Feb. 26 to Sept. ‘15, 1862, but erected
- only elementary defenses durlng ‘this period, Eac111tat1ng Gonfederate conquest af-
ter a siege of only 81 hours, As a result of this cossly experience, followéng
Confederate withdrawal the Union Army strongly fortified Maryland Heights and Lou-
‘doun Heights between October 1862 and June 1863. Many of these fortifications are
still intact; those on Maryland Heights within the park are as follows:

The Naval Battery (at I on Map V), first established in May 1862, had its three
earthen walls erected in September 1862. The walls of- this U-shaped redoubt are’
about 10" thick at the base and 10" high; the slope of . the mountain in the rear
completes,the enclosure. The west wall is about 52' long, the south wall: fac1ng .
- the river is about 72' long, and the east wall is about 43" ‘long. Traces a6 two .

kcontinﬁedj
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ordnance magazines, dug inte the slope of the mountain te the north and east-of

_the battery, are still quite evident. On June 27, 1863, the naval: battery contained
a lOO-pounder Dahlgren gun, a- 50-pounder Dahlgren gu and two ' 24—pounder ‘siege :
guns. . Following the completion of Battery Sullivan (on lands now "in. the- Chesapeake
~and Ohio Canal National Historical Park), it is probable that the ‘guns were removed
from- the naval battery. :

The 30—Pounder Battery (at H on- Mhp IV) was. erected*"” ctober-November.-1862. -

" was a strong earthwork with three faces: (l@ﬂ'bylSO?;,: EO') that cu¥ved around the
southern slope of Maryland Heights. The armament included four 30-pounder Parrott
rifled guns and six other pieces commanding the summit of Loudoun Heights, the
town of Harpers Ferry, and Bollvar ‘Heights. - The earthWork s well: preserved.

A 100—pounder Parrott gun was placed in. June 1863 at a narrow point in the ‘erest
of the Maryland Heights ridge (G on Mep IV), about 600 yards south of the-Stone .
Fort. The position was protected by sandbags. ' The gun had a 360° field of fire
and. could be effective agalnst ‘a‘wide .range of p051tions. The " 91te is undlsturbed;

The Stone Fort and Exterior Fort (at F.on Map IV) Were ‘erected in the” 5er10d between -
October 1862 and June 1863 . The Stone Fort, located on the highest point of Mary-
land Heights, was designed to Bkock an attack from the north along the crest of Elk
Ridge. It measured 100' by 40' and had 25' square bastions at the northeast and
. southwest corners. The walls were of dry-laid masonry from 4-1/2' to 7" thick.
The interior contained a magazine;. storage place for provisions, water tanks,; .and -
a spring. The Exterior Fort consisted of .two parallel earthworks. running from east
to west across the summit of Maryland Heights and down its west slope for a total
of about 700'. The north wall was about 125' north of the northeast bastion of
the Stone Fort and was linked to-the latter by a strong ‘stone breastwork running
along the edge of the cliff overlooking the east slope of the mountain. - The north.
wall ran 250' across level ground to a point where the west slope. of the ridge -
‘begins. This portion was about 20' thick at the base and about 20' high and con-
tained five cannon embrasures still visible today. The left flank of this section
was protected by an earth breastwork, now about. three eet high,. that ‘ran approxi-
mately 250" to the south, where it joined the southern east-west parallel wall of
the Exterior Fort. The north wall continiied down the west: slepe, crossing a,plateau,
for an additional 450', ending where the plateau d: ‘Ejoff sharply to the west.
This section was of stone about 10! thiek and 5' high. A dry ditch and- ‘abatis pro—
tected the front of the entire north wall.  Another earth breastwork ran along the:.
west edge of the lower plateau about 250' from the west end of the north wall to
the west end of the south parallel wallt. The latter, which estended east to ‘the-
- southwest bastion of the Stone PFort, was similar in censtruction. to ‘the nerthern
wall but was not protected by a dry ditch. The earthen portion of the wall" cross-

(coﬁtiﬁued)s‘
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ing the. upper plateau is now about 10' - thlck at the base and 6' h1gh.~ , S

On the summit plateau, within the walls of the Exterior Fort northeand east of the
Stone Fort, are visible remains of three magazines. @n the, 1ower plateau to the -
west are the stone remains of -fireplaces, Buts, and" pe haps gun.positions. - Addi- -
tional remains of campgrounds barracka, and other small fortificatlons are visible -
on the level ground of the summit south.of the EXterior Fort. ’ '

A line of stone breastworks about three feet hlgh Was erected in June 1863 along

the eastern crest of the ridge from the Stone Fort: ‘south to the 30-Pounder ‘Battery.
. A parallel, similar stone breastwork was erected on: the west side of. the ‘road inte

the Exterior Fort. ' These breastworks are still present.f Seven light field guns

were distributed along the eastern 11ne, and abatis were constructed on the eastern

-slope where roads led to the summlt. : :

A spur battery (E on Map IV) was erected in June 1863 on-a plateau on the Western
slope of Maryland Heights below the Exterior Fort. It consisted of a three-sided
embankment open at the rear, about 50' by 75' by 50'; mounting one 50-pounder -
Dahlgren gun. The gun could sweep the west side of Maryland. Helghts, enfilade- the
- . ravine running westward to the Potomac in front of the Barnard lines, and cover -
~Bolivar Heights. The battery was aemed and in use during the July 1864 Confederate
attack on Harpers Ferry. :

A strong stone breastwork, built by filling in a cribwork. of logs with stone, was
constructed in June 1863 from the spur battery up the west slope of the mountain-
to the base of the cliff above which rested the left flank defenses of the Exterior
Fort. The foont or north side of the line was covered: by an abatis of felled
trees. The log cribwork has rotted away, but the stone line is still evident.
Also on the spur battery plateau, and to the south of that work -along ‘the top of

- the western slope, are three stone walls probably de31gned as- breastworks or gun
positions for the additional defense of the position. - A large pit about'25' by
30' by 15' deep, probably a ‘magazine, has also been‘found on the southern end of
this plateau.

jBetween October 1862 and June 1863 Eederal troops cleared the Maryland Heights
area of forest from 1,500 yards north of the: Stone Fort south-to the Potomac.
The defenders were thereby provided a: clear fleld of fire in all" dlrectlons.

The Maryland Heights section of the park contalns one non-military histerlc struc—
_ turet . the Salty Deg Tavern (Park’ Bldg, No. 80). This two-story stone bullding, -
approximately 20' by 45' in plan, was built between 1833 and 1850 at the base of
the cliff opposite Loeck 33 on the C & O Canal. - It was a tavern and place of

(continued)
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i1l repute frequented by -eanal boatmen. Fires in 1960 -and 1963 burned out ‘the in-.
terior: and roof of . thh.seructure, 8o that- only an. open ‘shell: stands today.

The Maryland Heights section of the park - contains 763 07 acres.‘

_Loudoun Heights

 On August 20, 1813, the U.S, Government purchased. timber rights to supply the
‘Harpers Ferry Armory on a tract of 1,395 acres on ‘Loudoun Heights. - This land sup-
'plied the wood and charcoal used at,the Armory until 1861.' : S

In Oetober 1862 the Army of the- Potomac constructed three large. stone redoubts on -
the summit of Loudoun Heights. - Redoubt A (as labeled on Map IV) measured approxi-
mately 44" by 32', Redoubt B measured 32' square, and Redoubt C measured 38! by 32
A1l were four-sided enclosed works. Between October 1862 and. April. 1865’manx other
smaller stone works—-some rifle pits but most foundations for guard huts—dwere
erected on Loudoun Heights., Most of these features remain. :

- In the fall of 1862 Federal soldiers cleared the summit of ‘heavy forest, provlding-
- a clear field of fire in every direction. The fortificatlons here served as out-.
post defenses for Harpers Ferry until the end of the War.' :

The Loudoun Heights section of the park contains 276,80 acres.

amp Hill

The Camp Hill earthwofkss approx1mately l 250 feet long, were built 1nfMay 1862 .
and were strengthened and enlarged in 1863-64. They ‘ran from the cliffs overlook-
ing the Shenandoah on the south north along the western brow of" ‘Camp- Hill, over- -
looking Boundary and Union streets, to the bluffs above the Potomac. This line
guatded the approaches to Camp Hill and Harpers Ferry:frem Bolivar. Batteries

were placed at either flank (A and B on Map IV), and two strong redoubts- guarded -
the center section of the line. Qnekof these was just west of the Armory Superin-—
tendent's quarters, Armory Dwelling No. 257 the other was: directly~on Washington -
Street (outside the park boundary). Light field ‘guns armed- the line in July 1864.<
The area once occupied by these defenses has been. built over since the war, -add -
there are no evident surface remains of the fortificatiens.

'(contihued)fik
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SHORT HILL -

On March 5, 1980, the authorized boundaries of the park were expanded to include -
approximately 475 acres on the north. and west slopes of Short Hill Mountain in .
Loudoun County, Virginia. This ‘tract is apprexlmately 2-1/2 miles downriver from
Harpers Ferry and is part of ‘the sceniec backdrop vxsible from the town: and its im-
mediately surrounding heights.

The Short Hill tract has not been systematically surveyed for cultural ‘resources -
- as-of this writing. One known historic structure exists in ruined state in a ra¥: o
vine by the edge of the Potomac River in the easternmost corner of the tract.

The ruins are those of a stone mill possibly dating- from the late 18th century. .
The foundations measure approximately 20' by 30'.  Only the two endsfanqxcorners
~of one wall, two stories high, are now standing. e ‘

v laaas

'NORTH'BANKqSHENANDOAH*ABOVE”U;S.’340 BRIDGE

- As discussed on pages 2-3 above, the remains of a portion of the Harpers Ferry,
‘Charles Town, and Smithfield Turnpike traverse this ‘land. Some 40 ‘yards west of:
the fodern sewage treatment plant mentioned on the. follOW1ng ‘page, another historic.
road (much unimproved) branches left and runs southwesterlyﬂ arallel to the remains
of the Shemandoah Canal, which parallel the Shenandoah Rivi or about two-thirds

~of a mile upstream from the U.S. 840 bridge. The canal res s end where the road
crosses the railroad line running between the canal ‘and the river (the former

-~ Winchester ‘and Potomac). At this crossing, south of the road and railroad, are
surface archeological remains of Strider's Gulf Mill and its raceway,. portions of-
which may date to the 1790s. On the hillside north of the road and railroad are
the standing end walls of Strider's Mansion. They are of stone,- 2-1/2 stories
high, topped by the remains of stepped gable ends. Central brick chimneys" and
fireplaces run within each wall. - A residue of scored pargeting is present on the'

 exterior surfaces. The ‘house was standing in 1835. :

- On a bluff directly north: of the westernmost end of th1s tract, overlooking the
railroad and the Shenandoah, are the remains of a- €ivil War gun battery (No. -8
on Map IV). In August 1864 Maj. Gen. frhilip H. ‘Sheridan ordered the 1862 Bolivar
Heights defensive line to .be extende&;left.(southward)‘from the Charles Town Turn—
pike to the Shenandoah. This battery, a triangular warkhwork open at the rear, was
at the extreme léft or south ead of this line. It and a supporting rifle trench on
the hillside below are well preserved. These ‘earthworks are in a four-acre tract
that may be included in the authorized park boundaries by 1eglslation now pending
in Congress (June 1980). ‘

(contlnued)
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- NONHISTORIC FEATURES

The following structures Withln the authorized park boundaries do not contribute
_to the park's eligibility for the National Register. i

- The Interpret1ve Design Center, designed by" UlrlchJFra_ s and- constructed in-
1967-69, is a large three-story modern brick buil gron:the Storer College campus
~at the edge of the Cllff overlooking the Shenandoah;;~ : :

-Theee one-story brick re51dences were.hnilt on theife& er. orer College cahpus

in 1964 for employees of the MathkBr Training Cent ey re on the brow of*

Camp Hill west of Anthony or Witth Hall (Park ‘Bldg. 9);=4Near -an older
.two-story frame re81dence acquired by the Park Service in 1966 and r‘_ vated for an-

employee s quarters.

The park malntenance shop, a. large concrete block: one—stOry utillty building erect—
ed in 1964, 1s located below the western brow of. Camp Hill overlooking Boundary
Street, . Adjoining is a large ‘one-story concrete block workshop erected in 1970.,
Both. structures have later additions. A large parking area serves the buildings.

A one—stary'frame storage shed was erected in 1977 to house the park's carriage -
and Wagon collection. It is south of the maintenance shop.r ‘ - e {‘u"

A one-story stable was- erected in: 1975 in the lower town on’ Block F, Shenandoah
Street. : Ao

In 1976 the Park Service built two one-story dormitory cabins on. Maryland Helghts
for the Youth Conservation Corps. A ranger residence was erected by them,in 1977.

_,A sewage ‘treatment plant for. Bolivar and Harpers Ferriﬁ:"iconstructed in. 1978—79
on park land on the north bank of the Shenandoah ‘a short ,istance ‘west of the U S.«{'i
Route 340 bridge across the river., : : : :

gtcenstructed on the Shenan—.f
,;1and of Virglnius. ‘Tt will

A. pumping plant for Bolivar and Harpers Ferry is b
doah at Block G, Shenandoah" Street, Just east of the
. be largely below ground level. S

L
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Industrlal Develogment of Water EeWer ~

George Washington visited Harpers Ferry in August 1785 and was 1mpressed by the :
water pewer potential of the site. As Bresldent, "lpersenally .selected it for a

- proposed Federal musket producing factory or armory ‘QSept.‘16, 1795, ordered the
purchase of the necessary’ Jland, - and" spurred. ‘the Wa Department to aceompllsh the
mission. Washington believed that the ‘Poteomac v euld,emerge as a major. in="
dustrial and transportation center and saw.the. deve: opment of the U.S. Armory at

Harpers Ferry as contributing to this end and to- the commercial success’ of the
planned national capital downriver.; ’

ting for thétUnlted'States,
“»Sr., as ‘the site for- the
: Wager retained

- On June- 15 1796 thhington s secretary Tobla
purchased 118—114 acres at Harpers Ferry fro
second Federal armory (the first being at .S

“tracts known as' the Six Acre Reservation
the junction of the rivers, enabllng hi
Federal ‘presence boosted the wown's gro
and power canal along the- Potomac and th
1798 and was ‘largely completed in 1801. - By
cluded five brick workshops for arms - paoduction, a 1 rg

- of the. finlshed products, and a frame barracks for the -

rproductéon.began in 1802

(continued)
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.John HJrHall,rInterchangeeble Perts, and‘Masstroduetion’of‘Arms_

At the beginning of the 19th caatury, New Englanders Eli. Whitney and Simeon North ,
each devised powered machinery for the volume;productlon of ‘arms under Government
contracts. ' Their machinery was not precise enough to make the weapens parts truly
interchangeable, and much of the task of producing their arms had ‘to be done by
hand.. : o ,

It fell to John Harris Hall (1878—1841) of Portland, Malne, to take the next and
most significant step in the development of 1nterchangeable parts - enabllng maASs
production. In 1819 the War Department contracted with Hall for the manufacture-

.af Harpers Ferry of 1,000 copies of a breechloadlng flintlock rifle he had patented.
Hall arrived at Harpers Ferry that May and was assigned United States land on what
became known as the Lower Hall Rifle Factory Island, located on the north side of
the Shenandeah just west of the Island of" Virglnlus. -Here he developed the water-
powered precision machinery needed to produce his rifle by a completely .automated
process, which required no hand work: ‘other than assembling the individual parts.
The first 1,000 rifles were completed in 1825 and a second 1,000 by 1827. -

On Janu 6 1827, a spec1al comnission of weapons experts app01nted to-examine
Hall's rifles and machinery at Harpers Ferry reported to: the Army Chief of’ Ordnance.

It is well-known, we believe, that arms have never yet been made so exactly. simi-
lar to each other by any other process as to require no marking of the several
parts and so that those parts, on. ‘being changed would suit equally well when ap-a*
‘plied to every other arm. But the machines we have examined effect this with a
certainty and precision we should not have believed till we* witnessed the opera-
tions.

While Eli Whitney was the first in the United States to experlment with the system
of 1nterchangeable parts-and: mass production, John H. Hall ‘was - the first to fully
achleve these objectives. :

Development of Harpers Ferry as. a Communicatlon Llnk

In 1824 ~with Lewis Wernwag as thelr builder, the Whgers construeted a 750-foot
double wooden toll bridge across the Potemac in- liew of the old ferry. . In 1843-44
‘the Shenandoah Bridge Company ‘constructed a 375~foot double wooden- toll,bridge
across the Shenandoah. In the 1830s toll roads were built to Frederick, Md., add
Charles Town, .Va., followed by a turnpike to Hlllsborough, Va.,; in the 1850s. In
1806-07 the Potomac Company constructed a canal with upper and lower locks along
the north side of the Shenandoah just west of Harpers Ferry. In 1824 the successor.
Shenandoah Canal Company made" further improvements, includlng a dam across the

A(continued)
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Shenandoah to feed the canal and a: turning basin for boats. The Chesapeake and .Qhio
- Canal from the District. of Columhia to Cumberland Mﬂ., reached the. Maryland shore
_opposite: Harpers Ferry in- 1833, Where a 1ock was: built to provide boat aceess from
- ‘the Potomac and Shenandoah rivers. f :

“Between 1829 and 1836, with the improvement: of roads and prler to: the a‘"‘ ’l;of
railroads, Harpers Ferry enjoyed a brief era o a : '8
the establishment and expansion-of hotels. Fn 1 ‘the Wi ester and Potomac Rail-.
road was opened from Harpers Ferry to’ Winchester aV”y$ ie Baltimore and Ohio Rall—'r
road crossed the Potomac from Maryland in 1837 and completed ‘its main line of to . '
Cumberland. in 1842. Harpers Ferry became a- prl, al. way station -on-the railroads,f
further ‘boosting the hotel : and restaurant. business, ~The’ prime locale for such busi-
ness was the Wager Ferry Lot Reservation at the confluence of ‘the rivers, - ‘where ‘the
‘two railroads joined. Telegraph lines reached Harpers Ferry in 1848 further link— g
ing it to the ‘outside world.

- The John.Brown'Raid 1859

John Brown s raid in October 1859 focused. the natlon s attentlon on Harpers -Ferry.

Brown, an ardent abolitionist and leader in the bloody ‘sectional strife in Kansas, -

conceived a plan to liberate the slaves by starting a revolution, ‘arming the blacks,
~ and establishing a free-black stronghold in the Appalachians.v He chose Harpers

‘Ferry as his first objective because of its stocks of Weapons and its location

near tthe mountains. :

, During the summer of 1859. Brown gathered weapons, supplies, and- supporters ‘at the™
Kennedy farm some five miles distant in Maryland (now a national historic landmark).
On the night of October 16 he set. forth with 17 men. ‘and a wagonload of supplies for .
Harpers Ferry, leaving three men to—guard the farm.. A '6530 p.m. the- party'seized

" the Potomac bridge watchman and upon crossing took t rmory watchmen in: the: town. -
Brown then cut the telegraph wires and sent out partie »ofbring in slaves and hos~"
‘tages. But the engineer of an eastbound train through-the town telegraphed the o
alarm at 7 a.m. upon arrlving at’ Mbnocacy, Maryland; g ‘

‘Shooting began between Brown 5 men, now barrlcadeduin,the Armory bulldlngs, and -
-some of the townspeople., Militia,arrived from Charles Town and by'noon secured .
the Potomac bridge. = There were several .casualtie “both'.sides, and by nlghtfall
on the 17th the survivors of Brown' ssparty and  the ptives- had taken refuge in-
the fire engine housenof‘the~Armory'smmnsket-Facto. That night. Col. Robert E.
Lee and Lt. J.E.B, Stuart with 90 U.S. ifa; ¢ from Washington. = The next
morning, October 18, a party of marines stormed the‘engine house, bayonet1ng two

(continued)
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men and‘capturing the.others.

rought ‘to. trial’ in naarby

Virginia and: for ‘conspir='
to permit a plea of in-
elequent statement he de-

Amid great -mational. popular excieement, John Brown
' Charles Town a week later, indicted feor treason again:
~ 'ing with slaves to.commit treason and murder:' . Refu
‘sanity, he .was convicted and sentenced’ to: death.
nied everything “but...a design on my part ta free ' He felt no-guilt: to
~ "interfere" on behalf of God's “desplsed poor"™ was " o,wrong but right.l— ‘Brown
-~ was hanged at Charles Town on Dec. 2;° 1859.. His captu;ed associates were also
executed for treason. : ' :

In John Brown hanged, northern abolitionists had a. martyr in Brown' 's raid the

Southsaw the work of the devil, Popular passions sed by the event, North and-

Southy” made it 1ncreas1ng1y difficult for moderates:t find a common ground: of com-

promise on which both sections could agree and so. maintadhn the Union. Soon men L
- under arms would be marching to the tune of “John Brown s Body,' and Harpers Ferry-
- would be torn by civil war. :

Harpers Fergz in the Civil War :

On the night of Aprll 18, 1861, after learning of the" approach of strong and hos= .
tile Virginia State forces, Lt. Roger Jones and his 44 Federal soldiers set fire
- to the arsenal buildings and some of the Musket Factory shops of the U.S. “Armory
and retreated northward into Pemnsylvania. The arsenal buildlngs and: their con— .
~ tents were destroyed' the townspeople extinguished the Musket Factory'flre before
those buildings were greatly damaged. Confederate troops theén occupied Harpers-
Ferry until June 15, during which time they sg&#zed: all Armory property and removed
the arms making machinery to Richmond, Va., and Fayetteville, N.C. - ~Before retreat-;
ing south they blew up the B & O Railroad bridge- and trestle, set fire to ‘the
Musket Factory shops, and dld much other damage.

,rned briefly to burn the wooden . toll bridge - -
buildings of the U.S. Rifle Factory on the . .
S removed a-larg upply. of wheat from A.H.

. te forece raided ‘the
on’ ‘of all public and

On June 28, 1861, Confederates“”
across the Shenandoah and then
Lower Hall Island. When Union
- Herr's. mill on Virginius Islan
town and burned the’ mgll, thereby : :
- private’ ‘industry in Harpers-Ferry _ Tn Eehruary 1862H # ern ‘sniper firing:
. from a building in the town killed a Union seldier e 1th Maryland.side of the
 Potomac, in retaliation for whichﬁUnion soldlers.hurned ‘the entire: "point™ or
Ferry Lot dlstrict of hotels and stores. Eecause of the “‘town's strategic impor—

(continued)
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tance as a railroad, highway, -and canal transportatlon link the Union Army reoccu—~
pied ‘Harpers Ferry on February 25.. : :

September 1862 brought the flrst Confederate. 1nva§io“” f*the-north follewing victery
Mﬁ., on his way to Pennsyl-

- in the second battle of Manassas. Reaching. ‘Frederi
 vania, Bégefad. Robert E. Lee decided to: ‘remove - th eat to his rear and line of .
communications posed. by the strong ‘Union -garrison. rpers: Ferry. To do this he.
. decided to divide his army, Sending part:against Harpers Ferry while the main body
- pressed on aguaaétﬂagerst@wn. ‘The success of this daring plan depended on -the -Con= .*
- federates' ability fo capture. Harpers Ferry and quickly reunite ‘in time to face the
. pursuing force under Maj. Gen. ‘George B. MbClellan. Lee sent three columns total—
ing some 32,000 men against Harpers Ferry. th Gen. Thomas J.: Jackson approached -
from the south, reaching the vicinity of the town on September 123 Maj. Gen. Lafay--
ette Mchaws invested Maryland Heights from the north and- emplaced his cannon- there,
Brig. Gen. John G. Walker .approached from the. eastzand ‘occupied Loudoun Heights.'~
Thus, on September 14, Colonel Dixon S. Miles, in command of the Harpers Ferry v
garrison of 14,238 offlcers and men, found himself surrounded with ‘Confederates on
the heights overlooking his positions at Camp Hill and Bollvar Heights. Miles ‘
~surrendered his garrison on September 15 and was- subsequently mortally wounded by
Confederate artillery. The Union cavalry escaped across the Potomac, but the remain-
der ‘of the Union force was ‘taken prisoner-—the largest number of United States
prisoners of war taken in a single action uatil World War II. Jackson hurried off
~ toward Sharpsburg, Md., to reinforce Lee in the battle of Antietam, leaving:
Gen. A.P. Hill to arrange the parole of the. Union.captives. Hi1l--dn. turn rushed”
off to join the battle of Antietam just in time to save Lee s army from" disaster.'

The Union Army soon reoccupied Harpers Ferry and mor;; trongly fortifled the sur—‘
rounding heights against a recurrence of the recent en elopment. The Federals:

- briefly vacated the town. during ‘Lee's 1863 campaign ding to Gettysburg, and
the garrison withdrew to Maryland Helghxs ‘on July 4 o When a Confederate .
force of 20,000 under Lt. Gen. Jul 1 A. Early approach ‘Harpers Ferry. On the
lattex occasion the Union forces ed the Potomac oad and pontoon brldges
-and maintained resistance with ré: ,‘Trcements fro ) heights, forcing Early (-
men to detour across the Potomac near. Sharpsburg; ; s northern’ invasion was
delayed four days in his unsuccess‘ul empt ‘taicross at Harpers Ferry: and take
Maryland Heights. As a result o 1 ubsequent-battle of Mbnocacy,
Early did not reach his destination of Washington ‘July 10, enabllng Union.
reinforcements to come to the defénse of ‘the’ Capital Early's brlef occupancy of
‘Harpers Ferry :did accomplish its further destruction by fire. S

(continﬁed),
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From August 1864 to February 1865 Harpers Ferry. served as ‘the. main: base of opera—A
tions and supply for Maj. Gen. Philip Si S$heridan's army, ‘which:effectively des
stroyed Early's army as a: flghting force and conquered theShenandoah’ Valley. Dur-
ing this period the brick and stone walls of the burned out arsenal, Musket Factory,
and Rifle Factory buildings were: reroofed to create warehouses for ‘the munitdons

 and supplies needed to support Sheridan's: -advance. - Whgon trains of up to-1,000
‘wagons were parked Wlthin the defensive lines on Bolivar Heights before embarking -
southward. The U.S. Military- Railroad ‘Corps rebwlltkthe destroyed Winchester and:

- Potomac Railroad from Harpers Ferry south 28 miles to. Stephenson's Depot, enabling.
the mass transit of personnel and supplles to support Sheridan and to transfer '
forces to Lt. Gen. Ulysses Grant. ‘. :

At the end of the war the industrial base of. Harpers Ferry was largely destroyed.

The U.S. Govermnment decided not to rebuild the Armory but- to. dispose of its lands

and buildings. This decision, coupled with: perlodlc major. floods after 1870
eroded the town's economy and contributed slgniflcantly to its subsequent decllne.

Storer College

Storer College was established in vacated U.S. Armory- residences on Camp Hill
after the Civil War with the add of New England phllanthropy and grants from the
Freedmen's Bureau, a Federal agency formed to assist the emancipated blacks. It
was begun as an elementary school in the Lockwood House by the Rev, N.C. Brackett
of Phillips, Maine, representing the Freedmen's Bureau,: in 1865. As a result of -
a benefaction from John Storer of Sanford, Maine, in 1867, the school emerged as
Storer College. Its curriculum focused on teacher: tralnlng, -then expanded to

 inelude theology and the industrial and home arts., During. the college s first 40
years the student body averaged 176 men and women; admittéd "without distinction

- of race or color" in accordance with the terms of. Storer s bequest. The school
experienced some physical growth until the mid-20th century but closed its doors
~in 1955. Its buildings stand as reminders of one of the earllest 1nst1tut10ns
established for black education after emanc1pat10n.- & ~

“'The" Federal Government Returns

In 1852 the Federal Government began to .sell off . its surplus ‘lands and re31dences
rented to Armory workers in Harpers Ferry. Between 1869 -and 1884 the Governmant
put up for sale all remaining Armory lands and interests. The limited private

'(continued)
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industry that remained or was suhsequently introduced failed to £ill the vacuum,i*
“ left by the Federal wlthdrawal., As has. often’ been the: case elsewhere, the chronic -
economic ‘depression into which the town descended proved advantageous for the’ pres—
“ervation of its remaining structures and:-histerie character. - The national histo-
rical significance of Harpers. Ferry ‘was recognized by the Congress in 1944 when it
 enacted legislation authorizing the establishment of a national monument: of up -
to 1,500 acres for the purpose of ! commemorating his - events. at or mear
Harpers Ferry."  Subsequent legislation redesignated thé national monument as
- Harpers Ferry National Historical ‘Park and enlargedfthecauthorized ‘boundaries to
encompass approximately 2,385 acres in West. Virginia,- Maryland, and Virginia.,

,The National Park Service assumed administrative responsibility 4in 1955. The Ser=
vice 1nit1a11y set about to restore the: surviving lower town to its 1859 appear-

‘ance as much as possible, removing most later structures and alterations. . Recent-.
ly this "point in time" restoration. philosophy has been superseded by recognition
of the significan¢e of Harpers’ Ferry's evolution throughout the 19th century.

“In the 1960s ‘the Service acquired the former  Storer College campus -and buildings
and utilized. them for its Interpretive Design Center and Mather Training Center. -
In a very different role, the Federal Govermment is again the dominant presence
‘at Harpers Ferry. :
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John Brown Raid: (Copies of all National Park Servxce research teports on file
in Park. Library)

Bearss, Edwin C., "Historical Base Map, Part of the Master'Plan, Harpers Ferry =
National Historical Park, Harpers Ferry, West Virgznia,_,
June 1966 edltlon, 31 pages.

Bearss. Edwim C., "Historical Base Map-John Brown s Raid-Documentation-ﬁovement
Sheets, October 16-18, 1859, 6 sheets, Part of Master Plan,
- Harpers Ferry Nat1onal Histov&cal Park, Harpers Ferry,
West Virginia," June 1966 edition, 42 pages.r

John Brown's Raid,_,National Park Service History,Seriess(Washington, D.C., l973);vjiiu

Oatee, Stephen B., Oates, To Purge This Land with Blood' A Biography of John
Brown (New York, 1970).

Quarles, Benjamin, AII&, for Freedom. Black and John Brown (New York 1974)

Villard Oswald Garrisonm, John Brown, 1800-1859- A Biography Fifty Years After,
_ (Boston and New York, 1911, 2nd edition, 1943)

Civil War: .

iV Naxs 5 ,

Larrabee, Edward McM11BEE§§>"Archeological Exploration of the Civil War Rifle
Trenches on Bolivar Heights, Harpers Ferry National
.Monument, West Virginia During June 1962," ,
(Harpers Ferry, July 20, 1962), 19 pages, 3 photos
and 3 maps.

‘Pfanz, Harry W., "Special History Report: Troop Movement Maps, 1862 Harpers
Ferry National Historical Park, Maryland-w. V1rginia,“ (NPS,
Denver Service Center, Colorado, March 1976), 94 peges.

Snell, Charles W., "1865 Histerical Base Map for Loudoun Heights, Va.," dated

Snell, Charles W., "1865 Hlstor1ca1 Base Map for Bolivar Hexghts, Ww. Va.,
dated February 24, 1960, HF-79E!a .

Snell, Charles W., '"1865 Historical Base Map for Maryland Heights, Marylan
dated February 24, 1960. HF-79C.
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Civil Waz: (Continued )

Snell, Charles

Snell, Charles

Snell, Charles

Snell, Charles

Snell, Charles

Snell, Charles

W.’

w‘,

We,

"Documentation of 1865 Historical Base Map of Bolivar Heights,
W.Va.," (Harpers Ferry NM, November 10, 1961), 23 pages.
HF-79E. (Same as HF-120, Sullivan, Arthur L.).

"Documentatlcn’of 1865‘Hlstor1cal‘Base‘Map of Loudoun Heights,
Va.," (Harpers Ferry NM, February 26, 1960), 18 pp, . HF-79D.

"The Fortifications at Harpers Ferry, Va., in 1861 and Jackson's
Attack, May 1862, (Report on the Confederate and Federal

Fortifications at Harpers Ferry, Va., April 18, 1861 to Hayﬁ31,

w.’

WQ’

1862) to Accompany Map No. I, dated Feb. 5, 1960) (Harpers
Ferry NM, February 9, 1960), 114 pages. HF-98A 1 and 2.

"A Report on the Federal Fortifications at Harpers Ferry, Va.,
and of the Confederate and Union Troop Movements during the.
Siege of Harpers Ferry, September 12-15, 1862, (To Accompany
Map II, dated November 25, 1959)- (Harpers Ferry NM, December 1,
1959), 82 pages plus Map II. HF~9SB 1 and 2. A v

“Harpers Ferry Becomes a Fortress, September 21, 1862 - October 6,
1863 (A Report on the Federal Fortifications at Harpers Ferry,-

W. Va., June 27, 1863 to Accompany Map III, dated December 11,
1959)." (Harpers Ferry NM, December 16, 1959) 83 pages.

HF~98C 1 and 2,

“Harpers Ferry Repels an Attack and Becomes the Major Base of
Operations for Sheridamn's Army, July 4, 1864 to July Zﬂ, 1865,
(A Report on the Federal Fortifications at Harpers Ferry, W.Va.,
January 19, 1960)." (Harpers Ferry NM, January 21, 1960),

105 pages. HF-98D 1 and 2.*(To ‘Accompany- Map IV).'- .

Sullivan, Arthur L., "Historic Structures Report, Part I-Historic Data Seet1on-

Bolivar Heights Trenches," (Harpers Ferry NM, October 23,
1862), 20 pages, 4 maps.

Sullivan, Arthur L., "“Harpers Ferry-April 18 = December 31, 1861, A Casualty of

War," (Harpers Ferry NM, February 17 1960), 118 yages.
14 phOtOS. HF"94A.

Sullivan, Arthur L., "Harpers Ferry in the Civil Wer-1862," (Harpers Ferry NM,

June 26, 1961), 57 pages, 23 photos.‘ HF-94B.
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Sullivan, Arthur L., R"Documentatlon of Historical Base Map, Harpers Ferry V1c1nity,
a June 1863," (Harpers Ferry NM, November 10, 1961), 23 pages.
HF-120 - (Completion of Snell s report, HF- 79E)

Sullivan, Arthur L.; "Documentation of Historical ‘Base Map, Harpers Ferry Vic:nitya
s ~  Sheridan's Supply Base, Late 1864-65," (Harpers Ferry NM,,,
- November 30, 1961), 20 pages.2 HF-122.

Upper and Lower Hall (U.S. lele Factorz) Islands-“"

Carson, Hamilton H., "Resistlvity and Seismic Surveys and Excavations, UeS. szle.
: Works, Harpers Ferry, West. Virginia," 23 pp.typesctipt,
illustrations and notes, March 1963.

Larrabee, Edward McMillan, "Report of Exploratory Excavations conducted on the =~
Lower Hall Island Rifle Factory, Harpers Ferry Natiomal
Monument, Harpers Ferry, West Virginia from August 25.
through August 29, 1959," (Typescript, N.P. S., June 20,u
1960), 8 pp.,3 photos, 1 plan..

Larrabee, Edward McMillan, "Report of  the Second Season of Exploratory '
™ Archeological Excavations at the U.S. Rifle Works, i
Lower Hall Tgland, Harpers Ferry National Monnment, gi
Harpers Ferry, West Virginia, from June 23 through )
July 6, 1960 (N.P.S. typewscript, January 30, 1961),
37 pages, 11 plates, and 3 draW1ngs.

Larrabee, Edward McMillan, "Report of the Third Season of Exploratory '
‘ Archeological Excavations Conducted at the U;S Rxfle '
Works, Lower Hall Island, Harpers Ferry Natiomnal
- Monument, Harpers Ferry, West Virglnia, From:
through 10 November 1961," (for Harpers Ferry WM,
April 20, 1962), 90 pp.,13 plates, 6 drawings.

Smith, Philip R., Y"Historic ‘Building Site Survey: Report-ﬂ1story of the Upper
: Hall Island, 1796-1884," (Harpers Ferry NM, February 19,
1959) 21 pp., six maps., HF-ZSA. i ‘

i
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- Upper and Lower- Hall (U.S. Rifle Factory) Islandsipont1nned)

Wtb, 'Phili_p R., "Historic Building Slte Survey Report~ History of the Lower
Hall Island, The Rifle Factory, 1844-1884," (Harpers Ferry NM,
March 2,,1959), 47 pages, 9 maps and 4 photos. HF=28B,-

Smith, Philip R., "Historic Building Slte'Suriey Report: Hlsiory of the Lower
Hall Island, 1796-1848, and Captain John H. Hall's Rifle

Factory, 1819 1845," (Harpers Ferry NM, May 27, 1959, 37 pages,
6 maps. HF-29C.

 Loudoun Hg_ghts, Va.:

Smith, Philip R., "History of Loudoun Heights, Va., 1813-1880," (Harpers Ferry NM,
~ June 9, 1959), 51 pages, 13 photos, 4 maps. HF-75A.

‘Island of Virginius:

Hannah, David Hardgrave, "Archeological Excavations on Virginius. Island, Harpers
' Ferry National Historical Park, 1966-1968,"" (Harpers
Ferry Job Corps Civilian Conservation Center, Harpers .
Ferry, W. Va., March 1969), 151 pages, 89 photos and
plans, o L

Snell, Charles W.,. "History of the Island of Virginius, 175141870 " (NPS,\Harpefs
Ferry NM, December 4, 1958), 166 pages, 20 maps, 10 photos.
HD-29A.

Snell, Charles W., "A Short History of the Island of Vlrginius, 1816-1870 "
(NPS. Perry NM, dated June 1, 1859), 69 pages,
18 photos, 5 maps. HF-29B. :

¢

U.S. Arsenal Square, Block A, Shenandoah Street.\

Cotter, John L., "Preliminary Archeological Invest1gat1ons at Harpers Ferry.
‘ Harpers House Garden and Building 23, Arsenal Area at
y o ‘Shenandoah and High Street, April 8, 1959," (Regxon Five
office, Philadelphia, May 21, 1959), 3 pages.
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,U.S. Arsenal Squarel Block A, Shenandoah Street. (continued)

Cotter, John L.. “Completion of Archeologxcal Test at- COrner of New Arsenal ,
: o Building, June 7, 1960, Harpers Férry National Monument," - _
(Region Five Office, June 1960), 4 pages, 5 photos, 2 plans.,

Gardner, William M., "Excavation-ﬁarpers Ferry, 1973—74,“ (NPS Typescript, L
‘ Catholic University of America, December 1974), 36 pages, - -
7 maps, 27 figures. Work in block ‘bounded by Shenandoah, ;gelﬁ 2
Potomac, ngh Streets, and Ho F  Also grounds of
ster s House (Buxldzng N‘P ,6). S

Larrabee, Edward McMillan, ”Report of Archeological Investlgation.of the Arsenal
A ' Square'L Block A, Shenandoah Street / at Harpers - - '
Ferry National Monument, Harpers Ferry, West Virginia,
From July 20 through September 5, 1959," (for Harpers
Ferry NM, December 1960), 124 pages, 18 maps, 40 plates
and photos. ) 7 L
Smith, Philip R., '"History of the Large and Small Arsenals,- 1796-1869, Block A,
' : Lots 2 to 7, Shenandoah Street,” (Harpers Ferry NM, December 19,
1958, revised: April 29, 1959) 49 pages, 9 maps, and 6 photos.'
HF‘24A0

Smith, Philip R.," "Hlstory of the Superintendent s’ Old Office, 1833-1869, A:senal g
Square, Block A, Lot }, Shenandoah Street," (Harpers Ferry',
December 19, 1958, revised April 29, 1959), 14 pages, 4 maps,
2 phOtOSo HF"2430

Shehandoah Street:

Campbell, J. Duncan, “Archeological Report on Investlgations-Shenandoah Street
Area, Harpers Ferry," (for Harpers Ferry NM, June 4, 1965),
32 pages, 26 photos, 4 drawings. ,
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U S Mnsket Factory (or Armory) Bui1d1ng4vAlongithe Potomac:

Kissling,’Herbert H., "United States. Musket Factory (:Et Harpers Ferry:J,
' 1796-1835," (Harpers Ferry NM, February 28, 1961),
117 pages, HF-25B.

-

Snell, Charles W., "A C8 iy Hlstory of the Construction, Maintenance,

- and Numbers’o‘ Armory Dwelling Houses, 1796-1869," (NPS,
Harpers Ferry NM, October 31, 1958, revised, January 13,
1959), 140 pages, 3 plans. HF 21B.

Snell, Charles Wey "The Musket Factory Bulldlngs and Grounds, Harpers Ferry
- Armory, 1859-1860," (NPS, Harpers Ferry NM, April 27, 1959),
84 pp., 18 photos, and 4 maps. ‘HF=-25A.

Jefferson's_Rook:

Fairbairn, Charlotte J., "Jefferson's Rock, " (NPS typescript, Harpers Ferry
National Monument, November 1961), 57 pages, 16 photos,
1 map, Research Project No. HF-103,

Storer College; Camp Hill:

Mongin, Alfred, ‘'Research Report-A College in Secessia, The Early Years of
Storer College," (Hargers Ferry National Monument, June 15,
1960), 11 pages. Research Project No. HF-104A.

Smith, Philip R., "History of the Commanding Officer's Quarter s, Camp Hill
(Anthony Hall, Storer College), 1847- -1867," (Harpers ,
Ferry NM, March 19, 1959), 18 pages, 4 maps, 3 photos. HF-71.

' Smith, Philip R. "History of the Pay Master's Clerk s Quarters, Camp Hill,
(Morrell House, Storer College), 1857-1867," (Harpers Ferry NM,
March 26, 1959), 12 pages, 4 maps . HF-?Z.

Smith, Philip R., "History of Superintendent s Clerk's Quarters, Camp Hill
’ : ' (Brackett House, Storer College), 1857-1867," (Harpers Ferry NM,
March 27, 1959), 8 pages, 2 maps. "HF-73,

"History of the Paymaster s Quarters, Camp Hill (Lockwood House,
Storer College), 1848-1867) (Harpers Ferry NM, ‘March 23, 1959),»
29 pages, 6 maps, 5 photos. HF-74._ i

Smith, Philip R.,
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1859 Commercial Buildings, Residences, Churches, and- Schools of Lewer and Upper
Town of Harpers Ferry. . :

Located in the library of Harpers Ferry National Historical Park are Historic
Structure or Site Reports, based on primary sources and research, for the o
history of every site and building in Harpers Ferry: during the period 1751 to °
1865, These studies, written in the period 1957-1961; were prepared by

, Historians Fairbalrn, Kissling, Smith, Snell and Sullivan.';;

Architectural Data Sectlons were also prepared for a number of these Park build-.
ings by Architect Archie W, Franzen.
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UTM REFERENCES s
" Harpers. Ferry/Bolivar Heights/Maryland H:eights/LQudoun Heights.

A: 18/266590/4357980 (Harpers Ferry quadrangle)

B: 18/265840/4355790

C: 18/263800/4354380 W Lt

D: 18/261030/4353380 (Charlestowri' quadrangjlfe). e

E: 18/261880/4357920 " e R

F: 18/263960 4356560  (Harpers Ferry quadrangle)
- G 18/264980/4358600 SELLE . SR e

Short Hill:

H: 18/269780/4355600  (Harpers Ferry quadrangle)
I: 18/266890/4353110" "o : - :
J: 18/266670/4353600 ~ "

K: 18/267610/4355360 n

L: 18/269180/4356100 "
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B. Associated Historic Contexts

(Name each associated historic context, identifying them, geographical area, and chronological period for each)

1) Black Education in the Harpers Ferry/Bolivar area from 1864-1955.

2) Patterns of Community Development in the post-Civil War Harpers Ferry area, 1865-1955.
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form, "Harpers Ferry National Historical Park,” 1981.

4) Industrial Development of Water Power - This context is discussed in National Register Nomination Form, "Harpers Ferry National
Historical Park," 1981.

5) Harpers Ferry in the Civil War - This context is discussed in National Register Nomination Form, "Harpers Ferry National Historical
Park," 1981.
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E. Statement of Historic Contexts

Introduction:

After being administratively listed in the National Register on October 15, 1966, the
existing nomination for Harpers Ferry National Historical Park was prepared in 1980 and officially
listed in May of 1981. Since that time, the Park has acquired additional properties and new
information has come to light about others. This multiple property documentation form
consolidates the original nomination documentation with new contexts helpful in addressing the
significance of the properties acquired by the park since 1980. The majority of the properties
acquired by the park since the original nomination was prepared date from the early 20" century.
Thus a context is to be developed for this later phase of Harpers Ferry history beginning with the
close of the Civil War, and within that context, the added properties will be evaluated. It is quite
possible that in some instances buildings acquired may not contribute to the historic character of
the park, but the land upon which they are located does. These issues will be addressed in the
specific nomination forms for those properties. Related to the post-Civil War context is another
historical context included in this multiple property documentation form on Black Education in
the Harpers Ferry area. This relates in particular to Storer College and Grand View School, both
located within National Park boundaries. While the period of significance for some of the historic
contexts and component properties extends to more recently than 50 years ago, the predominant
significance was more than 50 years ago.

Historical Summary:

Harpers Ferry’s significance is rooted in the many layers of history experienced by the
town. The town’s initial settlement occurred because of its location on a low-lying wedge of
land at the confluence of the Potomac and Shenandoah Rivers. River rapids and towering hills on
all sides lend a striking beauty to the setting. The site of an early ferry crossing in operation in the
1740s, the town has always been influenced by transportation. From the boat shuttle to highway
bridges to rail crossings and the C&O Canal, transportation has driven the development of the
town.

The river rapids provided by nature and the man-made transportation features promoted
industry in Harpers Ferry. The earliest industries were water powered grist and saw mills dating
from the mid 18™ century. These facilities served the immediate portion of the rich agricultural
region that included the Shenandoah Valley, central Maryland and south central Pennsylvania that

1
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was a breadbasket in the 18" and 19™ centuries.

In addition to the agriculture-related industry that developed at Harpers Ferry, the Federal
government also provided for growth that lent historical significance to the town. George
Washington, in 1795, near the end of his term as President, chose Harpers Ferry as a site for a
musket factory. Washington had long been interested in promoting development along the
Potomac River, and creating a good transportation route to the West. He was concerned that the
western settlers would align themselves with the French who still controlled vast lands along the
Mississippi River, or would simply not be loyal to the newly formed and struggling Federal
government. The year before he had had first-hand experience in the difficulty of keeping back-
country Americans in support of their government with the Whiskey Rebellion in western
Pennsylvania. Then, President Washington and his Secretary of the Treasury, Alexander
Hamilton, themselves led the army to put down the perceived insurrection. In addition,
Washington was very familiar with the area of Virginia where Harpers Ferry is located. He, along
with his brothers Lawrence, Samuel, and Charles, owned large amounts of land just to the west in
the vicinity of Charles Town, named for Charles Washington. In fact, Charles had laid out the
town of Charles Town less than ten years earlier in 1786. Lord Fairfax who initially held most of
the land in western Virginia was also a relative and as a young man Washington had helped with
the survey of this land. Therefore, Washington had an interest in promoting the development of
Harpers Ferry and the surrounding area.

The musket factory expanded to an armory and included a rifle manufactory contracted to
John H. Hall in 1819. Hall patented a breech-loading flintlock rifle that was distinguished by
having interchangeable parts. While other inventors had attempted to design interchangeable
parts, Hall was the first to do so successfully.

The Federal property and the armory and arsenal at Harpers Ferry were to have a
profound impact upon the town’s history, making it a target in John Brown’s attempt to initiate a
slave revolt in October of 1859, and a place of strategic importance during the Civil War. In fact,
the significance of the armory and accompanying arsenal resulted in them being destroyed during
the Civil War. The Confederates dismantled the arsenal in 1861 and took the machinery and
inventory to Richmond where it could be maintained more safely than on the northern border of
the Confederacy. Confederates also destroyed private industry at Harpers Ferry. Although the
armory had been removed, Harpers Ferry was still an important military site. Straddling the
border between North and South, it was for much of the War a Federal garrison. The town’s
location at a place where the B&O Railroad, C&O canal and a main north-south highway

2
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converged made it a point of control for transport and communication routes north-south and
east-west. Therefore, control of the town became particularly important to the US military effort.
When the Confederates attacked and captured Harpers Ferry in September of 1862, the result
was the largest surrender of US forces to occur during the Civil War. The US reoccupied
Harpers Ferry after September of 1862 and immediately strengthened fortifications on Maryland
Heights and Loudoun Heights overlooking the town. In 1864, Harpers Ferry became the base of
operations for Union General Philip Sheridan’s Shenandoah Valley Campaign.

After the Civil War, the Federal government chose not to reopen the armory at Harpers
Ferry. As water became less important as a power source for industry in the later 19" century,
and flooding remained a threat, industries that had previously thrived at Harpers Ferry
disappeared or relocated elsewhere. The town’s growth slowed and it became a residential area
known for its scenic beauty. Much of the land surrounding the town was, however, still owned by
the Federal government, and some buildings associated with the armory had not been destroyed.

Reconstruction programs aimed at helping the four million former slaves in the South
impacted Harpers Ferry in the post-war years. Part of the reconstruction effort throughout the
South included contributions by northern missionaries, many of whom worked as teachers. Their
efforts were combined with those of the Freedmen’s Bureau, a Federal agency created to help
former slaves with the transition to freedom. With its location along transportation systems, its
dramatic history pertaining abolitionism and the presence of abandoned Federally owned buildings
associated with the armory, Harpers Ferry became an ideal place to establish a school for former
slaves. The Freewill Baptists from New England utilized funds donated by John Storer, a wealthy
businessman from Maine, and matched by the Freedman’s Bureau and other donations, to
establish a school. It grew from a missionary school to a normal school for the preparation of
teachers under the leadership of Nathan Brackett during the period from 1865-1868. By 1869,
the school, called Storer College, had acquired some of the old armory property and buildings on
Camp Hill just to the northwest of the town of Harpers Ferry. Storer College hosted such notable
African American guests as Frederick Douglass and W.E.B. DuBois. The college thrived until the
1954 Supreme Court decision integrating schools led West Virginia officials to assume that there
was no further need for a college in Harpers Ferry that educated only African Americans.

1) Black Education in the Harpers Ferry/Bolivar area from 1864-1955.

The state of West Virginia was established in 1863, at the height of the Civil War.
Created as a “free-state” out of the northwestern, Unionist counties of Virginia, the new West
3
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Virginia also included the unwilling Secessionist counties of Jefferson and Berkeley. The 1863
West Virginia Constitution included the establishment of free schools for the education of white
children. In 1866, the State Legislature established a system of schools for “colored” children in
sub-districts with at least 30 eligible 6 to 21 year olds. In 1867 the number of eligible children was
reduced from 30 to 15, thereby providing a better chance for education of blacks in this very rural
state.' While it is possible that in the western counties schools operated with mixed student
populations, this did not occur in Jefferson County. In 1872 the West Virginia State Constitution
was revised to ban officially the education of “white and colored persons...in the same school.””

Following the Civil War then, as part of general reconstruction efforts, an official system
for educating blacks in West Virginia was established. In the Eastern Panhandle counties of
Jefferson and Berkeley, where sentiment toward black education was decidedly negative, success
seemed unlikely. For several decades after the end of the war, many of the schools for black
children were run by northern missionaries associated with the American Missionary Association,
including ones in Winchester, VA and Charles Town, WV. In the Shenandoah Valley, the
Freewill Baptist Church was assigned to establish its mission.’

In 1864, Miss Florence Mann established the first school in Harpers Ferry for the
education of blacks. It was an independent missionary school located at the Lockwood House, an
abandoned government building on Camp Hill. The Lockwood House had been associated with
the Federal Armory in lower Harpers Ferry that was destroyed by Confederates in 1861. When
Miss Mann left Harpers Ferry in 1865, Rev. Nathan Brackett, a member of the Freewill Baptist
Church of Maine, which had taken on the Shenandoah Valley mission, took up the Lockwood
House school. Brackett had been sent to the valley by Silas Curtis, an elder in the church, to
“see what the prospect is for schools-school rooms...” and had settled on the Harpers Ferry

'State Superintendent of Schools, The History of Education in West Virginia, chapter by Byrd Prillerman,
“The Growth of the Colored Schools in West Virginia,” Charleston: Tribune Printing Co., 1907, p. 274.

’Ibid., p. 274.

3Bradley D. Nash, Crusade of Brotherhood, manuscript, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Hanging File, Harpers
Ferry, WV, no date, p. 24.

“Ibid., p. 34.
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location because it was “near the Rail Road and near the border of civilization [northern states].”
This location on the border of southern and northern states was advantageous also because of the
large number of freed slaves moving through the area requiring a primary education. Of the 19
students attending Rev. Brackett’s school in 1865, many were believed to be adults.®

The U. S. Bureau of Refugees, Freedmen, and Abandoned Lands, better known as the
Freedman’s Bureau, was established in 1865, during reconstruction, to help the displaced and
uneducated freed slaves. The Bureau, with General O.0. Howard at its head, played an important
role in acquiring the four government buildings and land which would eventually make up the
campus of Storer College. By 1867, the missionary school had added a “Normal School” at the
insistence of Rev. Brackett, who declared “the best teacher and guide to the Negro was the Negro
teacher himself.” The same year, the State of West Virginia granted the school a charter, and
John Storer, a philanthropist from Maine endowed the school with $10,000 provided that amount
would be matched and that students would be accepted “without distinction of race or color.”®
The matching funds came in the form of $6,000 from the Freedman’s Bureau, and the rest in
pledges from Freewill Baptist Church members.” In 1868 the U.S. Government granted the four
former armory buildings, later known as the Lockwood House, Brackett House, Morrell House,
and Anthony Hall, to the Storer College Trustees. Although Storer’s donation stipulated that the
school was open to all races, the State of West Virginia in 1872 made it illegal for white and black
students to be educated together. Storer College admitted only black students.

Storer College operated on an annual appropriation from the State of West Virginia
(providing a free education for West Virginia students), and an endowment from the Freewill

SLetters, Oct. 20, and Nov. 7, 1865, Silas Curtis and Nathan Brackett, Storer College Collection, Harpers
Ferry NHP Library, Harper Ferry, WV.

SAlfred Mongin, A College in Secessia The Early Years of Storer College, Harpers Ferry NHP Library,
Hanging File, Harpers Ferry, WV, p. 1.

"Nash, p. 62.
8Storer College Catalogue, 1869, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

S«Certificate of Incorporation of Storer College,” “Annual Cash Report of Treasurer,” 1867, Storer College
Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

5



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Reg iStel' of H istoric Places Historic Properties of Harper Ferry National Historical Park

- . Name of Property
Continuation Sheet

Jefferson County, West Virginia

County and State

Baptist Church.'® Its primary focus as a Normal School produced well-respected black teachers,
some of whom stayed in the area to teach at the college and at the “colored” schools in Charles
Town and later Harpers Ferry. Other graduates took the mission to various parts of the country.

The high school curriculum was the only one available in Harpers Ferry for blacks until
1942 when the high school program was reduced to summers only.'" It is unclear how long the
elementary program continued at Storer College, but by 1887 there was apparently no elementary
education available for black children in Harpers Ferry. The community seems to have wanted
separate educational facilities for black children because the Harpers Ferry Sentinel, published on
Oct. 8, 1887 endorsed “the petition circulating requesting the Board of Education to furnish a
school at Harpers Ferry for 42 ‘colored’ children who have no school or teacher.” An 1888 issue
of the Spirit of Jefferson announced the completion of the new “colored” school.> The 1907
Sanborn Fire Insurance Map for the Harpers Ferry District, showed the little school was a frame,
one story building with shingle roof, on Ridge St., next to the A.M.E. Church and the “Colored”
Baptist Church.

The school on Ridge St. in Harpers Ferry operated for almost 40 years. The school’s first
Principal, William B. Evans, was an 1878 graduate of Storer College. Other teachers at the
school were also Storer graduates, as well as student teachers. The Storer College Catalogue of
1921-1922 lists “Observation and Practice Teaching” as one of the Normal School courses and
states, “The Public School furnishes an excellent opportunity for all normal students to do
practice teaching. Here the everyday problems of teaching are discussed.”” Clearly there was a
connection between Storer College and the only other school for black children available in

Harpers Ferry.

1%State Sup. of Schools, chapter by Henry T. McDonald, “Institutions for the Education of Colored Y outh,
Storer College,” p. 266.

UStorer College Catalogue 1942-1943, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry,
WV.

“Harpers Ferry Sentinel, 10/8/1887, Spirit of Jefferson, 3/20/1888, microfilm, Harpers Ferry NHP Library,
Harpers Ferry, WV.

BStorer College Catalogue 1921-1922, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry,
WV.
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The close ties between Storer College and the Harpers Ferry “colored” school continued
through several building changes for the elementary school. In 1926 the school expanded to the
basement of the nearby Zion Baptist Church, the two-room frame building no longer sufficient for
the growing student population. A bond issue for new school buildings in the Harper Ferry
School District in 1929 included $15,000 for a brick, four-room building with auditorium for
black children. The bond, as passed by the voters in June 1929, actually only allowed $10,000 for
the black school, eliminating the auditorium and modern bathrooms. In comparison, the new
whites-only high school at Bolivar, also approved in the 1929 bond, was provided with $82,000
for construction, and included not only modern bathrooms but an auditorium and a gymnasium.
Despite the paltry sum provided for the new black school, an attempt was made at using the
modern, angular architectural style of the period." The new school, called Grand View School,
was located on Putnam St., and did indeed command a “grand view” of the Potomac River and
Maryland Heights. The Storer College trustees were clearly proud of the new building. In the
1932-1933 college catalogue, a photograph of the Grand View School was included and under
the Normal School Department course list, a notice reads: “Important-The work in Practice
Teaching is done at ‘Grand View’ public school, where opportunity for such educational
laboratory work is modern and excellent.”"

The Grand View School continued to play a large role in the elementary education
program at Storer College, especially beginning in 1942, when Storer College began offering full,
four year, college degrees, including the “Degree of Bachelor of Arts in Elementary Education” as
well as “Elementary Certificates.” The college catalogue for 1942-43 lists under the college
faculty, the principal of Grand View School, Clarence T. Napper, a graduate of Storer College,
and the three other teachers at the school, two of them also Storer graduates, as “Critic Teachers”
affiliated with the education program. The 1945-1946 catalogue adds teachers from the Page-
Jackson High School in Charles Town to the list of Critic Teachers, expanding the college ties to
other local black public schools."® ‘

'“Sheila Crane and Bruce J. Noble, Jr., “Grand View School,” unpublished report, Harpers Ferry NHP,
Harpers Ferry, WV, pp. 1-4.

BStorer College Catalogue 1932-1933, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry,
WV.

"“Ibid., 1942-1943 and 1945-1946.
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In 1946, following the end of World War II, Storer College continued its growth, from a
simple mission school to four-year college, with an attendance of 238 students, including 58
veterans. This ranked as one of the highest enrollments in the college’s history. By 1953, the
college physical plant had reached its largest size. In addition to the four original government
buildings, the college campus had expanded with the construction of Lincoln Hall, built in 1868
(burned in 1909); Myrtle (Mosher) Hall, 1878; DeWolf Industrial Building, 1891; Curtis Freewill
Baptist Church, 1892; Lewis W. Anthony Building, 1903; Brackett Hall (replacing the burned
Lincoln Hall), 1910; Parmelia Eastman Cook Hall, 1940; and a new Science Building, 1940. In
addition, the “John Brown Fort” was used as a museum on campus and a new gymnasium was
proposed.'” The impressive growth was brought to a sudden halt by the 1954 Supreme Court
decision which ended the practice of segregated schools in the United States. The immediate
result of the Supreme Court decision was the withdrawal of West Virginia State funds from
Storer College. By 1956 the college was forced to close its doors due to financial instability.

The black public schools, Grand View in Harpers Ferry, and Page-Jackson High School
and Eagle Avenue Elementary in Charles Town, were also affected by the 1954 Supreme Court
decision. From 1954 to 1965 Jefferson County schools were opened to all students using a
“freedom of choice” plan. According to Millard Bushong, this plan had the appearance of being
nondiscriminatory, but allowed some schools to continue as all black schools, including Grand
View and Page-Jackson. When the Federal government insisted that the county comply in 1965,
the Grand View Elementary School and Page-Jackson High School were closed and the students
integrated into the local white schools.'®

For ninety years Storer College provided an opportunity for basic and advanced education
for African Americans in the Shenandoah Valley, one of the oldest such institutions in the United
States and one of a very few in West Virginia. For the local primary and secondary schools for
black children, Storer College provided high caliber teaching staffs and support, something
probably difficult to find in rural West Virginia towns. Along with other well-known colleges and
universities created for the education of freed black slaves, such as Howard University in
Washington, D.C., Storer College was an important institution for the advancement of African
Americans between the Emancipation Proclamation in 1863 and the 1954 Supreme Court

1bid., 1947-1948.

"®Millard K. Bushong, Historic Jefferson County, Boyce, VA: Carr Publishing Co., Inc., 1972, p. 385.
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decision.

2) Patterns of Community Development in the Post-Civil War Harpers Ferry area, 1865-
1955.

Nestled at the confluence of the Potomac and Shenandoah Rivers, Harpers Ferry
developed throughout the late 18" and early 19™ centuries as a thriving commercial, industrial,
and transportation center for the western region of the mid-Atlantic. The power contained in the
two rivers attracted the industry. The gap created in the mountain ranges by the merging rivers
attracted the railroad, turnpike and canal builders. However, it was the natural beauty of the
rivers and the mountains combined that kept the people coming back to Harpers Ferry despite
repeated economic setbacks as the last half of the 19™ century turned to the 20™ century.

A center of territorial dispute during the Civil War, Harpers Ferry’s main industry, the
U.S. Government Armory and Arsenal, was looted and destroyed by the Confederate army and
permanently abandoned by the Federal government. The main transportation artery, the B&O
Railroad Bridge, was burned and rebuilt six times between 1861 and 1865. The Civil War years
left Harpers Ferry devastated. In addition to the complete destruction of the U.S. Armory and
Arsenal in the lower town, the Herr’s Mill complex on Virginius Island was also burned. Houses
and schools were damaged or destroyed on the hills above without much hope of compensation
from the government.

Three Harpers Ferry District schoolhouses were destroyed during the war for which
compensation was not provided until the year 1910." The public school located on Lot 9, Block
I was reportedly abandoned during the war and demolished by troops, the bricks sold by the
Ordnance Officer.”® The Lockwood House, on Camp Hill, was used by the Rev. N.C. Brackett’s
Freedman’s mission school in 1865, despite significant war damage. As Mrs. Brackett later
described it, “the NW [northwest room] had a big hole in the wall but was used for a sleeping

19

Farmers Almanac, April 23, 1910, microfilm, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

20Philip R. Smith, Jr., Research Report: History of the Public School, The Harpers Ferry Female Seminary,

Armory Magazine, Camp Hill, Harpers Ferry National Monument, April 2, 1959, bound manuscript, Harpers Ferry
NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV, p. 11.
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room.””' Inan 1867-68 Annual Cash Report, Rev. Brackett recorded spending $808.85 for
“Repairing Buildings & Fencing Lot.””* The people of Harpers Ferry had a great deal of
rebuilding to do, and it would be done largely without the help of the Federal government.

The greatest blow to the Harpers Ferry community came immediately following the war
when the U.S. Government decided not to rebuild the armory and arsenal which had been the
main industry for the town for 60 years. In 1868, a Congressional Act authorized the sale of
Federal government lands at a public auction. The sale not only included the government-owned
houses and vacant lots located throughout Harpers Ferry, including Camp Hill, but also the
grounds of the armory and arsenal along the Potomac and Shenandoah Rivers and the water
power rights that went with them. Also for sale was the government ore bank and ferry privilege
on the Shenandoah River. The armory, arsenal and waterpower rights were sold to Captain F.C.
Adams, representing the “Harpers Ferry Manufacturing and Water Power Co.” Encouraged by
the development plans of Capt. Adams, the Harpers Ferry inhabitants also bought up the
residential lots on the promise of future employment. Adam’s real plan, to sue the B&O Railroad
Co. for its passage across the armory property, was soon discovered and the bottom fell out of
Harpers Ferry’s anticipated recovery. All but a few of the government lots, including the Adams
purchase, were bought on credit and eventually returned to Federal ownership.”

Several changes which did occur contributed significantly to the recovery of Harpers Ferry
following the Civil War. First the B&O Railroad constructed the Bollman Bridge, a marvel of
wrought iron truss construction designed by Wendell Bollman. The new bridge not only allowed
rail traffic and commerce to continue, it also carried wagon and foot traffic to the C&O Canal and
turnpike, that provided a connection to the expanding markets of Frederick and Baltimore. The
second important change which occurred in lower Harpers Ferry, was the sale of the Herr’s Mill
complex on Virginius Island to the Harpers Ferry Mill Company owned by Jonathon C. Child and
John A. McCreight, both men from Springfield, Ohio. Converting the former cotton factory to a

2L ouise W. Brackett, Sept. 6, 1917, correspondence with H. McDonald, Storer College Collection, Harpers
Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

22 Annual Cash Report of Treasurer, 1867-1868, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library,
Harpers Ferry, WV.

%> James P. Noffsinger, Harpers Ferry West Virginia, Contributions Towards a Physical History, bound
manuscript, 1958, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV, pp. 50-52.
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four-story flourmill, they began a new era of water-powered production in Harpers Ferry. The
1870 flood of the Shenandoah River, while destroying several smaller mills on the island, only
damaged the millrace of the flourmill. The flourmill recovered and continued to produce until
damage from the 1889 flood forced the Harpers Ferry Mill Company to close.”*

The 1870s also saw the development of orchard farming in the Eastern Panhandle of West
Virginia. Orcharding, especially apples and peaches, had been popular in the northern counties of
Virginia (later West Virginia) since the beginning of the 19™ century owing to the mountain soils
and relatively moderate weather conditions. The first Eastern Panhandle farmer to plant an
orchard, William Miller, began shipping fruit to Baltimore via the railroad in the decade following
the end of the Civil War.”> Harpers Ferry area farmers quickly followed Miller’s lead. In the little
Spring Branch valley west of Bolivar Heights (along the Old Furnace Road) was the farm of
Rudolph Rau, known as the “Vineyard Farm.” Clearly Rau was experimenting with the
cultivation of grapes, but a public sale notice of the personal property of Rudolph Rau in an 1870
issue of the Virginia Free Press lists a cider mill and a wine press which indicates he was also
cultivating apples on his farm.* Throughout the 1870s and 1880s, the Old Furnace Road
connected with Potomac Street-extended and would have provided Rau direct access to the
railroad depot in Harpers Ferry. This farm continued as a commercial orchard well into the 20"
century under the names “Shady Hill Orchard” and finally, the “Hillside Fruit Farm.”

On Camp Hill and Bolivar Heights, above the lower town section of Harpers Ferry, other
changes were taking place that would help to save the devastated Harpers Ferry community. In
1868, the Freedman’s Mission of the Free Will Baptist Church, located in the Lockwood House,
would officially become Storer College dedicated to the education of the newly freed African-
American population. Initially unpopular among local citizens who generally still considered
themselves unreconstructed Virginians, the school was eventually accepted. By 1876, an editorial
in the Virginia Free Press of Charles Town read, “We doubt if there is a more flourishing school

2Dave Gilbert, Where Industry Failed, Water-Powered Mills at Harpers Ferry West Virginia, Pictorial
Histories Publishing Co., Charleston, WV, 1984, p. 69.

Dr.o.C. Stine, c. 1966, “Apples and West Virginia,” Appalachian Apple Service, Martinsburg, WV, pp. 1-

26Virginia Free Press, Oct. 15, 1870, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.
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for education of colored people in the United States. Professor N.C. Brackett deserves credit.
Discipline is good, education thorough...[It is] now looked upon with favor by the majority of
people of Jefferson Co. and West Virginia.””’ The impact that Storer College had on the
community of Harpers Ferry went beyond racial understanding and education. In an 1887 article
of the Pioneer Press, the monetary importance of having such an institution in the community was
revealed, pointing out that in the first year the college spent less than $1,000 but by the year 1887
that amount had reached $90,000 annually.® The infusion of such a sum of money favorably
impacted the economy of a small town like Harpers Ferry.

Summer tourism in Harpers Ferry began to grow as a business in the 1870s and 80s.
Hotels and boarding houses flourished, enhanced by the convenient location of the railroad and
turnpike, by the breathtaking scenery and mineral springs, and by the interest of the general public
in John Brown’s 1859 raid which helped touch off the Civil War. Several hotels in the lower
town had been established before the war and continued to operate into the post-war era. In the
1880s the summer boarding boom surged, fueled largely by the Storer College trustees and
several graduates of the college. Seen as a source of income for the college in the summer
months, several of the college buildings were opened for “colored” boarders. Some of the
boarders were students staying in the area and the boarding houses provided shelter and offered
summer employment to these students. Later some of these campus houses were opened to white
boarders, igniting a controversy within the Storer College community. The first building opened
to summer boarding was the Lockwood House, which continued in use in this manner into the
20™ century. Other campus buildings used as boarding houses included the Morrell House, later
known as Sparrow’s Inn (1907) or Shenandoah Inn (1922), Lincoln Hall, Myrtle Hall, and
Anthony Hall. Finally, around the turn of the century, Lincoln and Anthony Halls were combined
and called the Summit House. The Summit House accepted both white boarders and, in a
separate cottage, black boarders.”

27Virginia Free Press, Oct. 15, 1876, Editorial from Keyser Mountain Echo, microfilm, Harpers Ferry NHP
Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

2pioneer Press, May 1887, microfilm, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

2Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, 1907 and 1922, WVU Archives, Morgantown, WV; The Speaker, letter to the
editor by James H. Robinson, c. 1900, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.
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While the summer boarding experiment at Storer College began as a service for African
Americans, the establishments eventually began to serve whites. James H. Robinson, who served
black boarders in the 1870s, described the situation saying, “at the price we had to accept there
was nothing in it.”*° Robinson was the first proprietor of the Lincoln Hall summer boarding
house, he was an 1878 graduate of Storer College Normal Department and taught school locally.
In his letter to the editor of The Speaker, Mr. Robinson, himself an African American, questioned
fellow black members of the community in their opposition to the Storer College trustees’
decision to accept white boarders in college buildings dedicated to black education. “Because the
Yankees have given us a school and are maintaining it must they also maintain a summer resort
for us?”' The reality of summer boarding in Harpers Ferry was that the summer tourists with the
money were white. Black proprietors, of whom there were as many as six both on and off the
Storer College campus, could not afford to limit themselves to serving black customers only.

A Storer College graduate also operated the most well known Harpers Ferry summer
establishment, The Hilltop House. Thomas S. Lovett graduated in 1876 and probably began his
career operating one of the houses on campus. A May 7, 1889 Spirit of Jefferson announcement
notes that “Tom Lovett is fencing the Magazine Hill lot and is about to build. He had been a
pioneer in entertaining summer guests and deserves success.” The same issue goes on to say that
a Mr. Vail was building a hotel on Bolivar Heights and a Mrs. Kolb from Washington D.C. had
rented the Morrell House for the summer, indicating the summer tourist business was growing in
1889.” The Hilltop House was destroyed by fire and rebuilt by the Lovett family. It became a
favorite summer destination for the well known, including President Woodrow Wilson and writer
Mark Twain and continues today as a popular resort hotel.”> President William Clinton and Vice
President Al Gore enjoyed lunch there during an Earth Day visit to Harpers Ferry on April 22,
1998.

*The Speaker, letter to the editor by James H. Robinson, c. 1900, Storer College Collection, Harpers Ferry
NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

*bid.
32Spirit of Jefferson, May 7, 1889, microfilm, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

3National Register Nomination, “Harpers Ferry Historic District, Jefferson County, WV,” Item 8, Page 3.
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Further evidence of the continued tourism boom in and around Harpers Ferry was the
1889 construction of “Green’s Mountain House,” later known as the “Hotel Shenandoah,” on
Loudoun Heights. George Green’s resort hotel had a capacity of 250 guests and touted an
“abundance of water flowing from Natural Mineral Springs....”** Mr. Green’s grand investment
was perhaps inspired by the 1882 construction of the toll bridge over the Shenandoah River that
provided ready access to his mountain land. An 1889 improvement by the B&O Railroad, the
passenger depot on the point at Harpers Ferry was surely a boon to the various hotels and
boarding houses in the area as well.

In 1884 the Federal government again put up for sale its holdings at Harpers Ferry. This

time the armory grounds on both the Potomac and Shenandoah Rivers, as well as the water rights,
- were purchased by Thomas H. Savery for the purpose of establishing The Shenandoah Pulp

Company on Virginius Island in 1888 and the Harpers Ferry Paper Company on the foundations
of the old armory rolling mill along the Potomac River in 1890. This new industry promised
better days for the struggling community. For the Harpers Ferry Mill Company’s flour mill,
however, the new Shenandoah Pulp Mill signified the end. The river dam constructed to divert
water to the pulp mill, drew water away from the flour mill’s operations and the reduction of
water power coupled with the damages sustained during the flood of 1889 probably influenced
the decision not to reopen the flour mill following the flood.” This also occurred at a time when
eastern flourmills were succumbing to competition from large facilities in the Midwest.

The new milling businesses of Savory and Co. encouraged a community struggling to
reinvent its industrial base. Joseph Barry expressed the sentiment in his book The Strange Story of
Harper’s Ferry, written several years after the opening of the Savory and Co. mills. “The new
firm-Savory and Co.- are evidently good business men, and it would appear as if they had come to
stay, and give a start to a new Harpers Ferry.”*® Such enthusiasm, however, was probably not
well placed. The two Savory and Co. mills were never large employers and workers were not
highly paid. Built during a rapid expansion of the pulp and paper mill industry, the mills at

3*Susan E. Winter and Dennis E. Frye, Loudoun Heights, Archeological & Historical Resources Study,
Harpers Ferry National Historical Park, 1992, p. 84, quotation from 1898 newspaper advertisement.

PGilbert, pp. 69-72.

38Joseph Barry, The Strange Story of Harper’s Ferry, The Shepherdstown Register, Shepherdstown WV, 1979
(first printing 1903), p. 173.
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Harpers Ferry produced financial hardship for their owner due to plummeting paper prices.
Despite their inability to make money and another flood in 1924, the mills operated for more than
40 years. Finally, in 1925 the Harpers Ferry Paper Company mill sustained extensive damage
from a fire. The Harpers Ferry Power and Light Co., which had been sharing the building with
the paper mill, rebuilt the building and operated for another 75 years. In 1935, the Shenandoah
Pulp Company mill, heavily in debt, simply closed.” Still, in the expansive atmosphere of
Harpers Ferry in the 1890s, the establishment of the pulp and paper mills was a sign of good times
ahead.

Another development in Harpers Ferry in the 1890s was the advent of the brewing and
bottling industry. As early as 1890, the Spirit of Jefferson newspaper ran an advertisement for the
“J.C. McGraw Beer Bottling and ginger ale business” in Harpers Ferry.”® By 1895 the Harpers
Ferry Brewing Co. was established on Market St. in lower town. Operating under a succession of
names, the beer-brewing component ended as the Jefferson Brewing Co. in 1913. Following the
establishment of prohibition laws in 1914 in West Virginia, the facility became the Harpers Ferry
Bottling Works and remained at the Market St. location as late as 1933.° However, flooding of
the Shenandoah in 1924 and 1936 proved damaging and finally fatal for the bottling company.
Every industry located on the riverbanks in lower Harpers Ferry eventually suffered the same fate.

A more permanent development in lower town Harpers Ferry, completed in 1894, was the
total realignment of the B&O Railroad Potomac River crossing. The railroad company not only
constructed a new steel truss bridge, but also blasted a tunnel through Maryland Heights and
moved the tracks along the river farther inland across the old armory grounds. These actions
displaced the old armory firechouse known as John Brown’s Fort and altered the historical
configuration of the armory grounds. The ‘Fort’ was sold and dismantled, beginning a journey
which would include the dismantling and reconstruction of the building several more times before
its return to lower town Harpers Ferry in 1968.*" In 1909, the building was reconstructed on the

¥Gilbert, pp. 72-75; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps 1907, 1922, 1933,
38Sgirit of Jefferson, 1890, microfilm, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

*Donald Bull, Manfred Friedrich, and Robert Gottschalk, American Breweries, Bullworks, Trumball, CT,
1984, p. 314; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, 1907, 1922, 1933, WVU Archives, Morgantown, WV,

*See National Register Nomination Form, “Harpers Ferry National Historical Park,” the Musket Factory Fire
Engine House, Musket Factory Bldg. No. 1, Park Bldg. No. 63, Item 7, Page 19.
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Storer College campus and remained there as the John Brown Museum until the National Park
Service purchased the campus in 1960.

Much had happened in the Harpers Ferry community throughout the 1880s and 1890s
and into the first decades of the 20™ century, but repeated flooding of the Potomac and
Shenandoah Rivers in 1870, 1889, 1924, and 1936, had taken its toll on the attempts to revive
the economic base. The 1936 flood destroyed the highway bridges crossing both rivers. Neither
was replaced until 10 years later when they were relocated as part of the Route 340 by-pass of
Harper Ferry. By all accounts, lower town Harpers Ferry was a ghost town following the 1936
flood, the most devastating flood ever recorded in Harpers Ferry. Tourists, however, attracted
by the very rivers that repeatedly ravaged the town’s industries, appeared to be the only industry
capable of sustaining itself in the difficult Harpers Ferry environment. The Hilltop House, which
is still operating today, was a popular vacation spot for the wealthy and famous of the 1920s and
30s. The continued success of Storer College also infused money, and culture, into the Harpers
Ferry community. Despite the difficulties the lower town of Harpers Ferry experienced, the
surrounding areas of Camp Hill and Bolivar Heights continued to grow, with new houses and
schools pointing to the future.

Beginning around 1936, an idea for the future of Harpers Ferry began to take shape. Dr.
Henry T. McDonald, then President of Storer College, led an informal committee of citizens
interested in developing Harpers Ferry, Maryland Heights, and Loudoun Heights as a National
Historic Site. With the help of local Congressmen, especially Jennings Randolph of West
Virginia, an official committee was formed in 1938. This committee was described “as a type of
“Tri-State National Historic Site Authority which could function in all three States in the way of
procuring the property and paving the way for turning it over to the NPS.”*' In 1944, Congress
passed Bill H.R. 3524 “to provide for the establishment of the Harpers Ferry National
Monument,” but without an appropriation to finance the park. It was not until 1951 that
Congress passed a Harpers Ferry National Monument appropriations bill and the rejuvenation of
Harpers Ferry would begin.*

41Martinsburg Journal, Feb. 18, 1938, “Tri-State Group Moves For Harper Ferry Historic Site,” from the

papers of Henry T. McDonald, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.

42Henry T. McDonald Papers, Harpers Ferry NHP Library, Harpers Ferry, WV.
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Today, Harpers Ferry is sustained not only by the presence of the National Park, which
attracts thousands of tourists every year, but also by the growing popularity of the area as a
bedroom community. With its scenic beauty and ready access to the highway leading to the
metropolitan areas of Washington, D.C. and Baltimore, Harpers Ferry, Bolivar Heights, and
Jefferson Co. in general, have become part of the expansion of the metro area. The associated
growth is putting pressure on the development of farmland outside of Harpers Ferry and making
the presence of the National Park at Harpers Ferry all the more important for the preservation of
not only the history of the area, but of its scenic beauty as well.

F. Associated Property Types

The resources being addressed in this nomination are within the already-listed Harpers
Ferry National Historical Park Historic District listed in the National Register in 1981. This
updated nomination addresses new contexts developed for the park and properties within the
park boundaries acquired by the park since 1981. This revised documentation form will also
create a mechanism for evaluation of properties added in the future.

Property types found in Harpers Ferry National Historical Park include:
1. African American Schools (Black Education Context)
2. Rail-related resources (Transportation Context)
3. Farms, residential and community resources (Community Development, 1865-
1955 Context)
4. Industrial resources (Industrial Development of Water Power Context)
5. Military sites (Harpers Ferry in the Civil War Context)

African American Schools will reflect the theme of Black Education in Harpers Ferry
from 1864 to 1955. Schools included in this property will have been constructed for or used by
African Americans for educational purposes at some point in their history. In the Harpers Ferry
National Historical Park, there are two African American schools, Grand View School and
Storer College. In addition, the Lockwood house, a former armory building was used as an
independent missionary school in 1864. These properties may be either individual buildings or
districts, such as the Storer College campus.

These educational resources will exhibit associative characteristics linking them to the
education of African Americans. They may either have been constructed new to accommodate

their function as educational facilities, or they may be buildings that were in existence previously
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and were utilized later as educational facilities. In this case, the properties may also have
architectural or associative physical features important to other historical contexts in Harpers
Ferry National Historical Park.

In order to be eligible for listing within the context of African American Education, these
properties must retain visual integrity to the period of significance. For school buildings,
character-defining features need to remain intact. These features might include floor plan with
corridors and classrooms, black boards, woodwork and trim and window placement reflective of
an educational setting. With the schools designed exclusively for African Americans, the
facilities might be expected to be fairly modest with a minimum of embellishments.

These properties will be significant under National Register Criterion A for their
association with educational developments for African Americans. There may be associations
with Federally mandated reconstruction programs and in general the period of significance for
these resources will end with the 1954 Supreme Court decision ending the practice of segregated
schooling in the United States.

Rail-related resources are those which are historically associated with the transportation
history in Harpers Ferry. Harpers Ferry was an important river crossing site since the 18"
century, and one which was utilized early by the B & O railroad as it crossed from Maryland into
Virginia to avoid rights-of-way already in possession of the C & O canal. Eligible resources
might be bridges, bridge piers and/or abutments, remnants of destroyed bridges,
passenger/freight stations rail routes and grades. These resources will display clear associations
with rail transport, even if in ruined condition. Currently, a number of significant rail resources,
while located within the park’s boundaries, are privately owned and operated as part of active
rail transport systems. In order to be eligible in this multiple property documentation, rail
resources must be park-owned in addition to being within the park’s boundaries.

The location of Harpers Ferry at the merge point of two rivers makes the place prone to
flood damage. Occasional floods are indeed part of the history of Harpers Ferry National
Historical Park, and therefore the visible impact of floods is an important character defining
feature for some resources. For Harpers Ferry National Historical Park’s rail related resources,
bridges or railroad beds near the river are particularly vulnerable to flood damage. Since the
potential for damage is so high in this environment, flood damaged resources are eligible despite
loss of integrity from their original appearance.
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Harpers Ferry’s strategic location for military purposes also made the town and its rail
resources vulnerable to destruction during the Civil War. Remnants of destroyed rail resources
are to be considered eligible because of their associations with both transportation and Civil War
themes. Since some of these properties may have been actively used prior to park acquisition,
alterations and modernizations probably have occurred. These changes will not prevent a
property from being listed because they depict the ongoing transportation function of the

property.

Rail related properties in Harpers Ferry National Historical Park will meet National
Register Criterion A for their associations with the development of Harpers Ferry, and their role
in the Civil War and industrial history of the town. The historical context for these resources is
discussed in the 1981 National Register Nomination form for Harpers Ferry National Historical
Park. To be eligible, properties must substantially retain integrity and association with particular
historical events, trends or actions.

Farms, residential and community resources, 1865-1955 is a property type that covers
most of the resources added to the park since the original nomination was prepared in 1981.

Resources in this property type include hillside farms, houses and community facilities like
schools, which reflect the growth and development of Harpers Ferry after the Civil War. Despite
the loss of its primary industry during the war, increased tourism associated with the scenic
attributes of Harpers Ferry, war related incidents, and eventually the development of the National
Historical Park, attracted new residents and increased the need for community facilities to
accommodate them. Also the growth of dairy and fruit farming in the surrounding countryside,
encouraged by improved rail transportation centered in Harpers Ferry, marked a transition from
the 18" and 19™ century pattern of grain farming.

Properties from this theme and type will follow architectural styles and construction
techniques from the late 19™ and early 20" centuries. Lightweight frame construction will
dominate, followed by brick for the more substantial buildings. There will be frequent use of
mill-produced sidings and machined finishes and trims. Farm buildings will reflect the
agricultural use of farm buildings for dairy purposes or orchards. Thus, typical components for
farmsteads will be dairy barns, milk houses, livestock sheds, and pastureland. Orchard properties
will have fewer buildings limited to equipment sheds and fruit packing or storage buildings.

Members of this property type could be eligible under National Register Criterion A for
their historical associations, or Criterion C for architectural significance, or both. Potentially,
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these properties could also meet Criterion B, if associated with the life of an important person in
the history of Harpers Ferry. In order to be eligible, properties must retain visual integrity with
most of their exterior architectural features and landscape elements intact so that the historical
associations are easily recognizable.

Industrial resources are important to Harpers Ferry’s history and are therefore considered
to be one of the property types. The “Industrial Development of Water Power” context is
located in the original 1981 nomination and will form the basis for evaluation of this property
type. Properties might be buildings, structures or sites, depending on the resource. Sites
associated with the armory in Harpers Ferry would be among this property type. The
hydroelectric power plant along the Potomac River and the B & O Railroad represents this
property type. It is also on the site of earlier industrial buildings, first an armory building and
then a pulp mill. This layering of historical uses of a property is acceptable and enhances the
historic character of a property. Other industrial resources include structures found on the face
of Maryland Heights, remnants of charcoal hearths from the iron industry at Antietam Furnace.
Charcoal was produced at sites on the mountainside with rings of stone enclosing an area where
wood was piled and burned under cover to create charcoal. Some of these rings are recorded in
the archaeological study of Maryland Heights by Susan W. and Dennis E. Frye and included by
reference in the nominated area.

Industrial resources should retain recognizable components to indicate their function and
association with the industrial history in Harpers Ferry National Park. Layering of industrial uses
and functions is permissible since the evolution of industry in Harpers Ferry is part of its history.
Many of these properties were water-powered and related components will include raceways,
gateways, and other elements associated with water-powered industry. However, the necessity
of placing these industries close to water also makes them vulnerable to flooding. The cycles of
flooding are historically significant to the industrial development and decline of Harpers Ferry.
Thus, industrial sites that have been compromised by flood damage may still be eligible, if
enough remains either archaeologically or architecturally to convey the essence of the property.

This property type may be eligible under National Register Criteria A, C, and/or D.

Military sites are a property type that can be found as buildings, sites, structures or
archeological features. The historic context by which this property type is evaluated is found in
the 1981 National Register Nomination document, and expanded by subsequent studies and
publications, such as the National Park Service archaeological and historical reports on Maryland
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Heights and Loudoun Heights. Recently acquired by the park is the Spur Battery, a defensive
site located on a projecting arm or spur on the west face of Maryland Heights. In addition to the
battery are defensive sites, fortifications and earthworks, and encampment sites. These are
described and mapped in the above-mentioned reports and included in the nominated area by
reference. Military sites will meet National Register Criteria A, C, or D. Some could meet
criterion B if specifically associated with a prominent military figure. Criterion C would apply
only to military sites that were buildings or structures. In general, these places must retain
integrity of setting to convey as closely as possible the essence of the site at the time of the Civil
War. Some recognizable components have to be present, and for archaeological sites there must
be some sort of assessment or evaluation of the property.

G. Geographical Data

This multiple property documentation listing covers the area within the boundaries of the
Harpers Ferry National Historical Park. However, to be excluded in this submission is the
“Short Hill” area in Loudoun County, Virginia. This rugged, mountainous area of the park has
never been surveyed for historic and archaeological resources, and no known associations with
the historic themes identified for Harpers Ferry National Park exist. Otherwise the nomination
includes park property on Maryland Heights in Washington County, Maryland, and in Jefferson
County, West Virginia, as described and mapped for the original 1981 National Register
nomination. The boundaries for these nominated areas follow the current National Park Service
boundaries and are the same as those already listed.

H. Summary Identification and Evaluation Methods

The recordation of historic resources in Harpers Ferry National Historical Park is
complicated by the location of the park, with lands in three states encircling private property in
the towns of Harpers Ferry and Bolivar. In addition to the National Park’s nomination, which
was listed in 1981, the town of Harpers Ferry has its own National Register Historic District that
was listed in October of 1979. Also, the Potomac River crossings including the present railroad
bridge, piers and abutments for the earlier Bollman truss bridge and the railroad tunnel, all in
Maryland, were listed in the National Register in that state in 1978. This Maryland nomination,
however, appears to also include the B & O Railroad station in Harpers Ferry. In 1992, the piers
for the Bollman truss bridge included in the Maryland nomination were acquired by the Harpers
Ferry National Historical Park and are therefore subject to the scope of this multiple property
documentation effort to add them to the park’s nomination. In December of 1998, a National
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Register nomination was prepared by the National Park Service for the “Harpers Ferry
Archaeological District,” but it is not yet listed. All of these documents are incorporated into this
multiple property submission by reference.

One of the tasks in this project is to include in the narrative of the multiple property
documentation form for the park an acknowledgement and summary of what is included in the
older nominations. One of the first efforts in the preliminary research phase of the multiple
property documentation project was to locate and review all of the existing nominations, checking
for areas of overlap and also to see what additional contexts might need to be developed to
accommodate the recently acquired properties. This was a major focus of the initial research
effort. Also part of the initial research effort was a preliminary site visit to view the properties to
be added to the nominated area.

Historic contexts addressed in the original nomination were 1) the development of Harpers
Ferry as a transportation/communication link; 2) Industrial development of Water Power; and 3)
Harpers Ferry in the Civil War. For this multiple property documentation effort the two
additional contexts in Section E were developed. The 11 properties acquired by the National
Park Service since 1980 are evaluated within one or more of those contexts and assessed on how
well they relate to the context(s).

All other properties in the original nomination are retained as listed unless specifically
removed. The Short Hill section of the Park located in Loudoun County, Virginia, was not
specifically included in this nomination. Although no historic resources are presently known to
exist there, the possibility remains that survey work will be conducted there in connection with
future National Register work..
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Bolivar Heights/School House Ridge Skirmish Site Jefferson County, WV
Name of Property County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria Area of Significance

(Mark “X” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for (Enter categories from instructions)

National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad pattern of our
history.

Property associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

[0 C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a
type, period, or method of construction or represents
the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity
entity whose components lack individual distinction.

[0 D Property as yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “X’ in all the boxes that apply)

Property is:

O A

owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

removed from its original location.

a birthplace or grave.

O O W

a cemetery.

m

a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

o0 o0ooao

-n

a commemorative property.

[ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets)

Military

Period of Significance

1862

Significant Dates

September 15, 1862

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder

N/A

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets)

Previous documentation on files (NPS):

O

preliminary determination of individual listing (36

CFR 67) has been requested

previously listed in the National Register

previously determined eligible by the National Register
designated a National Historic Landmark

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

#

recorded by Historic American Engineering Record

# .

O O0Ood

Primary location of additional data:

State Historic Preservation Office
Other State agency

Federal agency

Local government

University

Other

Name of repository:

O0o0o0ooa
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 56.07

UTM References

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

1{18 216121133 413516141516
Zone Easting Northing

21118 21611151915

Verbal Boundary Description

4131515

712 14

(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet)

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet)

3[118 21611121114 41351581116
Zone Easting Northing
41|8 2~6|1 6|3|0 413 5|6 7|110

See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle Edith Wallace, Research Associate

Organization Paula S. Reed and Associates, Inc.

street & number 105 N. Potomac Street

date 6/99, rev. 12/00

city ortown _ Hagerstown

state Maryland

telephone 301-739-2070

zip code 21740

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional Items

(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO)

Name Harpers Ferry NHP

street & number P.O. Box 65

city ortown _ Harpers Ferry

state WV

telephone 304-535-6298

zip code 25425

Paperwork Reduction Statement: This information is being collected for applicatioris to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et. seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Physical Description:

The Bolivar Heights/School House Ridge Skirmish Site, more recently known as the
Hillside Fruit Farm, is located along State Secondary Route 27 (Bloomery Road), formerly Old
Furnace Road. Fronting on the east side of the road, the farm sits on the west face of Bolivar
Heights, facing the School House Ridge to the west. The property is historically part of the
eastern tract of the larger 277 acre grain farm belonging to Daniel Moler. Known as “Prospect
Hill” Farm the property was bisected by the Old Furnace Road. It was across Moler’s fields,
between the School House Ridge and Bolivar Heights that the Confederate and Union
skirmishers faced each other the morning of September 15, 1862. The farm was converted to the
cultivation of fruits during the second half of the 19" century. The 56-acre section addressed in
this nomination is currently uncultivated and all fruit trees have been removed. The ¢.1890
house and associated farm buildings, located centrally along the western boundary of the
property, are vacant and in a state of decay. The Bolivar Heights ridge above the farm is wooded
with deciduous trees. The land opposite the farm, across Bloomery Road, on the east face of
School House Ridge is also fallow. The School House Ridge masks a small housing
development on its west face.

The ¢.1890 house associated with the orchard era of the property is a two story braced
frame structure on a limestone foundation. The west elevation, fronting on Bloomery Road, is
three bays in a window/door/window pattern. Windows are six over six sash, the door is half-
panel with a six light window. The front section of the house is one bay deep with a projecting
three-part bay window on the south elevation. The full-length front porch has a hipped roof
supported with square columns. The ell section of the house sits on the same stone foundation.
Along the south elevation of the ell is a recessed two-story porch, which has been enclosed. The
house was originally covered with weatherboard siding, which has been covered with rough
stucco. The shallow pitched roof is sheathed with raised seam metal; there is one central brick
chimney.

The interior of the house is extremely decayed. Windows and some moldings appear to
be original, however, it seems floors may have been raised during a mid 20™ century renovation.
The front section of the house is two rooms on the first floor with the front door opening directly
into the northwest room. The enclosed stairs are located in the center of the house, the second
story has two smaller rooms with a large walk-in closet between. The ell section of the house
consists of the kitchen and a mudroom in the enclosed side porch on the first story. The second
story has several smaller rooms, including a room in the enclosed balcony.
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Several outbuildings are located to the rear of the dwelling house, all of which appear to
be of a later construction date than the house. Directly behind the house, to the east is a one
story frame shed with vertical board siding and a corrugated metal roof. Immediately to the east
of the shed is a one-story frame garage with concrete block equipment shed attached which share
a channeled metal roof. Southeast of the house complex is a large storage building associated
with the orchard farm. It is a frame building on concrete foundation with corrugated metal
siding.
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Statement of Significance:

The Bolivar Heights/School House Ridge Skirmish Site is significant under National
Register Criterion A for its association with the September 1862 siege of Harpers Ferry by
Confederate troops under the command of Maj. Gen. Thomas J. “Stonewall” Jackson. By the
morning of September 15, 1862, Gen. Jackson had surrounded the Union garrison at Harpers
Ferry with artillery on Maryland Heights to the northeast, Loudoun Heights to the southeast, and
along the School House Ridge to the west. Infantry under the command of Brig. Gen. Jubal
Early, placed at the edge of the woods on the east face of School House Ridge, prepared to attack
the Federal skirmish line along the west face of Bolivar Heights, in concert with A.P. Hill’s
attack from the southwest. Confronted with overwhelming Confederate artillery fire, the early
morning surrender of Harpers Ferry by Col. Dixon Miles cut short the infantry attack. The
School House Ridge Skirmish Site is part of the Multiple Property Documentation entitled
“Historic Properties of Harpers Ferry National Historical Park.” The site is significant within the
context of Harpers Ferry in the Civil War as a Military Site property type.

Resource History

For two decades prior to the Civil War, Daniel Moler and his neighbors quietly farmed
the pleasant little valley between the School House Ridge and Bolivar Heights. Visually cut-off
from the civilization of Bolivar and Harpers Ferry just across Bolivar Heights to the east, it was
conveniently connected by the Old Furnace Road to both the Charlestown Turnpike (now Route
340) on the south and Potomac Street extended on the north. The predominant cultivation of
grains such as wheat, rye, and corn by farmers of the Shenandoah Valley would likely have been
practiced on Moler’s 280 acre “Prospect Hill Farm.” The location of a nearby Grist Mill at the
north end of Old Furnace Road, where grains could be processed for market, further enhanced
the attractive farm location.’

The peace in the valley would be shattered severely in September 1862. Twelve
thousand, five hundred Union soldiers had been garrisoned at Harpers Ferry, still within
secessionist Virginia in 1862, to protect vital lines of supply and communication, as well as the
B&O Railroad. General Robert E. Lee’s invasion into northern territory in September of 1862
depended on the southern army’s ability to move supplies and communications along the
Shenandoah Valley “by way of Staunton, Harrisonburg, and Winchester, entering Maryland at

! See 1852 Map of Jefferson Co. West Virginia; also Jefferson Co. Land Records 26/455 and 3/327 for Daniel
Moler’s farm description.
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Shepherdstown.” The Union presence at Harpers Ferry and Martinsburg had to be neutralized

to make Lee’s invasion plans viable. General Lee’s famous Special Orders No. 191 detailed the
split of the Army of Northern Virginia, sending the commands of Generals Jackson, McLaws,
and Walker “to endeavor to capture the enemy at Harper’s Ferry and vicinity,” thereby freeing
the Shenadoah Valley of any Union presence.” Meanwhile, Generals Longstreet and D. H. Hill
waited at Boonsboro in Maryland. Their eventual objective was to move further north. By
September 14™ all of Jackson’s forces were in place to achieve the capitulation of Harpers Ferry.
McLaws had overtaken the 2,000 Union troops on Maryland Heights and placed artillery there
commanding the right of the Union defensive lines in Harpers Ferry. Walker had arrived on the
undefended Loudoun Heights placing artillery on the left and rear of the Union defenses. The
Union’s main defensive works were located along the ridge of Bolivar Heights. There a line of
skirmishers stood in front along the western face of the ridge. Confederate infantry and artillery,
Ewell’s division, under the command of General Jubal Early approached from the west to
complete the three pronged advance to Harpers Ferry. Early reported,

After passing Halltown, the division advanced to the woods on School-House

Hill, in line, in the following order: Lawton’s and Trimble’s brigades . . . on the
right of the Turnpike; Hays’ brigade on the left of it, and my own brigade in rear
of Lawton’s . . . thus getting possession of this hill, which fronted Bolivar Heights
.. .. My brigade was then moved across the road by flank and placed immediately
in rear of Hays’ brigade . . .. At dawn [Sept. 15] the brigades were advanced to the
front of the woods . . .*

General “Stonewall” Jackson’s former division had advanced to the northern end of School
House Ridge near the Potomac River, across from the extreme right of the Union defense. Henry
Kyd Douglas, close aid to General Jackson recalled,

At three o’clock [a.m., Sept. 15] General Jackson sent for me and directed me to
go at once to his old division and direct General D. R. Jones who was
commanding it to move forward his skirmishers at daylight toward Bolivar

2 James V. Murfin, The Gleam of Bayonets (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press, 1965), p. 114; cited

from Battles and Leaders, Vol. II, p. 605.
3 Jay Luvaas and Harold W. Nelson, eds. The U.S. Army War College Guide to the Battle of Antietam The

Maryland Campaign of 1862. (Washington: HarperCollinsPublishers, 1987), p. 9.
* War of the Rebellion Official Records of the Union and Confederate Armies, Series I, Vol. 19, Part I, p-

966.
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Heights, to open on it with his artillery, and make as imposing a demonstration as
a5
possible.

Meanwhile A. P. Hill’s division moved in on the Union left, along the Shenandoah River. With
the Confederate batteries at Maryland Heights, Loudoun Heights, and School House Ridge
raining fire on the Federal defense on the morning of September 15" the outlook was grim,
General Jackson described the scene,

“At dawn, September 15 . . . Lawton’s brigade . . .moved by flank to the
bottom between School-House Hill and Bolivar Heights, to support the advance
of...[A. P.] Hill. Lieutenant-Colonel Walker opened a rapid enfilade fire from
all his batteries at about 1,000 yards range. The batteries on School-House Hill
attacked the enemy’s lines in front. In a short time the guns . . . under the
direction of Colonel Crutchfield, opened from the rear. The batteries of Poague
and Carpenter opened fire on the enemy’s right. The artillery upon the Loudoun
Heights, of Brigadier-General Walker’s command . . . again opened upon
Harper’s Ferry, and also some guns of Major-General McLaws from the
Maryland Heights.

In an hour the enemy’s fire seemed to be silenced, and the batteries of
General Hill were ordered to cease their fire, which was the signal for storming
the works. General Pender had commenced his advance, when, the enemy again
opening, Pegram and Crenshaw moved forward their batteries and poured a rapid
fire into the enemy.®

By 8 a.m. the fight was over, the Union garrison had surrendered. Leaving General Hill to
handle the parole of the 12,500 prisoners, Jackson, McLaws, and Walker headed for Sharpsburg
and the battle brewing there.’

Following the Civil War, the quiet life of farming returned to the little valley below
Bolivar Heights. In 1868, Samuel Howell Brown, local surveyor and mapmaker, purchased “the
tract of land upon which the said [Daniel] Moler resided for many years . . . composed of two
tracts of land.”® In 1876, the farm, now containing 266 acres was sold to Rudolph Rau who also
owned a farm on the south side of the Turnpike. It is possible that Rau was experimenting with

3 Henry Kyd Douglas, I Rode With Stonewall (Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press, 1940),
p. 161.

°0. R, Series I, Vol. 19, Part I, p. 955.

" Murfin, p. 202.

8 Jefferson Co. Land Record, Liber 3, Folio 520, Jefferson County Court House, Charles Town, WV.
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the cultivation of market fruits, rapidly becoming popular with farmers in the eastern panhandle
of West Virginia. A sale of Rau’s personal property in 1870, included among the farm
equipment, a wine press and cider mill.’ By 1897, following Rau’s death, 92 acres of the
original “Prospect Hill Farm,” on the east side of Old Furnace Road, were sold separately as
“The Vineyard Farm” to Rau’s children. Clearly, this parcel of the farm was by then devoted to
fruit farming. “The Vineyard Farm™ also had on it a modest two-story dwelling, constructed late
in the 19™ century, prior to Rudolph Rau’s death.'°

In 1904, “The Vineyard Farm,” now 83 acres, was sold to Thomas Rutherford.
Rutherford sold 81 acres in 1912 to W. A. Higgs, who then sold it to Fannie Hockensmith in
1925. The Hockensmith family owned and operated the orchard farm, which they called “The
Homeplace™ and later, “Hillside Fruit Farm,” for approximately 60 years. By 1987, the “Hillside
Fruit Farm” had been reduced to less than 60 acres.!’ A 1987 deed for the 56 acre property from
the Hockensmith heirs to Charles and Janice Neidinger included covenants to keep the property
clean and undeveloped.

In September 1992 a trustee for the Neidingers sold the property in two parcels to
Jefferson Security Bank. The bank then sold the land to the Civil War Trust, an organization
dedicated to the preservation of Civil War battlefields, in December 1992. In June 1998 the
Civil War Trust deeded the Bolivar Heights/School House Ridge Skirmish Site to the Harpers
Ferry National Historical Park.

Resource Evaluation:

The Bolivar Heights/School House Ridge Skirmish Site is part of the Multiple Property
Documentation entitled “Historic Properties of Harpers Ferry National Historical Park” within

® Virginia Free Press, October 15, 1870, microfilm collection, Harpers Ferry National Historical Park,
Harpers Ferry, WV.

1% Jefferson Co. Land Records, D/66, and 83/133; Rudolph Rau Last Will and Testament, Will Book B/274.

! Jefferson Co. Land Records, 94/326, 107/223, 125/364, 164/488, 286/151, 205/12, 286/156, 284/511,
284/504; Samuel Hockensmith Last Will and Testament, Will Book M/144.
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the context of Harpers Ferry in the Civil War. Its significance as an historic landscape associated
with the 1862 siege of Harpers Ferry is documented in the historic record. The integrity of the
site, despite changes in land use since 1862 remains fairly good. While the farm moved from the
cultivation of grains to fruit throughout the intervening years, all evidence of the orchard has
been cleared from the site, leaving open fields. The four associated buildings from the later
orchard occupation are in an extreme state of decay and are not considered eligible for National
Register nomination. Much of the adjoining land to the east and north is owned by the Harpers
Ferry National Historical Park and is currently wooded. The Old Furnace Road (now State
Secondary Route 27 or Bloomery Road) retains its original path. Properties located on the west
side of the road, on the School House Ridge, remain undeveloped at this time, however,
development has occurred on the west face of the ridge. This development cannot be observed
from the Bolivar Heights/School House Ridge Skirmish Site.
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